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Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
Swift Energy Company and Subsidiaries (in thousands, except share amounts)
September 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

December 31, 2014

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Deferred tax asset
Other current assets

$

Total Current Assets

7,322
36,610
—
4,299

$

48,231

Property and Equipment:
Property and Equipment, including $69,697 and $64,903 of unproved property costs not
being amortized, respectively
Less – Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Property and Equipment, Net
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued capital costs
Accrued interest
Undistributed oil and gas revenues

64,669

6,023,634
(5,061,058)

Other Long-Term Assets

5,934,155
(3,839,118)

962,576

2,095,037

13,471

13,641

$

1,024,278

$

2,173,347

$

49,116
19,509
13,783
12,589

$

68,244
41,461
21,389
17,825

Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Asset Retirement Obligation
Other Long-Term Liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized, 44,709,758 and 44,379,463
shares issued, and 44,547,481 and 43,918,029 shares outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock held, at cost, 162,277, and 461,434 shares, respectively
Retained earnings (Accumulated deficit)

94,997

148,919

1,179,132
—
65,448
9,511

1,074,534
86,376
62,122
7,018

—

—

—

—

447
774,830
(2,487)
(1,097,600)

Total Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

444
771,972
(9,855)
31,817

(324,810)
$

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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406
48,451
6,243
9,569

1,024,278

794,378
$

2,173,347
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
Swift Energy Company and Subsidiaries (in thousands, except per-share amounts)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2015
Revenues:
Oil and gas sales
Price-risk management and other, net

$

2014

60,024
92

Total Revenues
Costs and Expenses:
General and administrative, net
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Accretion of asset retirement obligation
Lease operating cost
Transportation and gas processing
Severance and other taxes
Interest expense, net
Write-down of oil and gas properties
Total Costs and Expenses
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes

$

2015

133,896
4,898

$

195,663
(1,041)

2014
$

441,440
(2,472)

60,116

138,794

194,622

438,968

8,679
35,606
1,410
17,990
5,446
4,613
19,438
321,522

10,981
65,331
1,445
22,067
5,107
10,191
18,197
—

31,525
138,392
4,156
54,188
15,855
14,169
56,407
1,084,595

33,565
201,072
4,246
70,606
16,412
28,829
55,295
—

414,704

133,319

1,399,287

410,025

5,475

(1,204,665)

28,943

3,001

(80,133)

14,200

(354,588)

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

Nine Months Ended September 30,

—
$

(354,588)

$

2,474

$

(1,124,532)

$

14,743

Basic: Net Income (Loss)

$

(7.96)

$

0.06

$

(25.31)

$

0.34

Diluted: Net Income (Loss)

$

(7.96)

$

0.06

$

(25.31)

$

0.33

Net Income (Loss)

Per Share Amounts-

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Basic

44,546

43,850

44,431

43,768

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Diluted

44,546

44,473

44,431

44,299

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Swift Energy Company and Subsidiaries (in thousands, except share amounts)

Balance, December 31, 2013

Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Treasury Stock

$

$

$

439

762,242

Stock issued for benefit plans (154,665 shares)

—

Purchase of treasury shares (102,673 shares)

—

—

Employee stock purchase plan (71,825 shares)

1

823

Issuance of restricted stock (392,292 shares)

4

Amortization of share-based compensation

—

Net Loss
Balance, December 31, 2014

(1,876)

(4)
10,787

—
$

—

444

$

771,972

(12,575)

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)
$

1,065,350

3,785

—

1,909

—

(1,065)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

10,787

(9,855)

824

(283,427)
$

7,518

31,817

(283,427)
$

—

Purchase of treasury shares (53,319 shares) (1)

—

—

(150)

—

(150)

1

301

—

—

302

919

Issuance of restricted stock (242,666 shares) (1)

2

—

—

—

Amortization of share-based compensation (1)

—

4,273

—

—

4,273

Net Loss (1)

—

—

—

Balance, September 30, 2015 (1)

$

(2)

(4,885)

794,378

Stock issued for benefit plans (352,476 shares) (1)
Employee stock purchase plan (87,629 shares) (1)

(1,714)

$

(1,065)

—
$

315,244

Total

447

$

(1) Unaudited

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

5

774,830

$

(2,487)

(1,124,532)
$

(1,097,600)

(1,124,532)
$

(324,810)
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
Swift Energy Company and Subsidiaries (in thousands)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2015
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activitiesDepreciation, depletion, and amortization
Write-down of oil and gas properties
Accretion of asset retirement obligation
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation expense
Other
Change in assets and liabilities(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable and other current assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest

$

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Additions to property and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Funds withdrawn from restricted cash account
Funds deposited into restricted cash account
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Payments of bank borrowings
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock
Purchase of treasury shares
Payments of debt issuance costs
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period

2014

(1,124,532)

$

14,743

138,392
1,084,595
4,156
(80,133)
3,288
3,627

201,072
—
4,246
13,507
5,571
(390)

11,841
(4,768)
(450)
(7,606)

14,159
7,299
543
(8,575)

28,410

252,175

(126,752)
977
—
—

(316,972)
145,535
6,501
(18,345)

(125,775)

(183,281)

258,200
(153,500)
302
(150)
(571)

356,900
(419,900)
824
(954)
—

104,281

(63,130)

6,916

5,764

406

3,277

$

7,322

$

9,041

Cash paid during period for interest, net of amounts capitalized

$

62,012

$

61,983

Cash paid during period for income taxes

$

450

$

150

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flows Information:

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
Swift Energy Company and Subsidiaries
(1)

General Information

The condensed consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by Swift Energy Company (“Swift Energy,” the
“Company,” or “we”) and reflect necessary adjustments, all of which were of a recurring nature unless otherwise disclosed herein, and are in the
opinion of our management necessary for a fair presentation. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States have been omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission. We believe that the disclosures presented are adequate to allow the information presented not to be
misleading. The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes
thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 2, 2015.
(2)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Swift Energy and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, which are engaged in the exploration, development, acquisition, and operation of oil and gas properties, with a focus on
inland waters and onshore oil and natural gas reserves in Louisiana and Texas. Our undivided interests in oil and gas properties are accounted for
using the proportionate consolidation method, whereby our proportionate share of each entity’s assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses are
included in the appropriate classifications in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements. Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in preparing the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.
Subsequent Events. On November 2, 2015 we executed an amendment to our credit facility decreasing our borrowing base and commitment
amount on our credit facility, changing certain of our financial covenant ratios, and providing for a borrowing base redetermination on or about
February 1, 2016 if we have not reduced the current outstanding principal amount of our unsecured or subordinated debt by at least 50% by that
date, along with other changes detailed in Note 5 of these condensed consolidated financial statements. There were no other material subsequent
events requiring additional disclosure in these financial statements.
Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets and liabilities and the reported amounts
of certain revenues and expenses during each reporting period. We believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable; however, such estimates
and assumptions are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from such estimates. Significant
estimates and assumptions underlying these financial statements include:
•

the estimated quantities of proved oil and natural gas reserves used to compute depletion of oil and natural gas properties , the related
present value of estimated future net cash flows there-from, and the ceiling test impairment calculation,

•

estimates related to the collectability of accounts receivable and the credit worthiness of our customers,

•

estimates of the counterparty bank risk related to letters of credit that our customers may have issued on our behalf,

•

estimates of future costs to develop and produce reserves,

•

accruals related to oil and gas sales, capital expenditures and lease operating expenses,

•

estimates of insurance recoveries related to property damage, and the solvency of insurance providers,

•

estimates in the calculation of share-based compensation expense,

•

estimates of our ownership in properties prior to final division of interest determination,

•

the estimated future cost and timing of asset retirement obligations,

•

estimates made in our income tax calculations,

•

estimates in the calculation of the fair value of hedging assets and liabilities, and

•

estimates in the assessment of current litigation claims against the company.

While we are not aware of any material revisions to any of our estimates, there will likely be future revisions to our estimates resulting from
matters such as new accounting pronouncements, changes in ownership interests, payouts, joint venture audits, re-allocations by purchasers or
pipelines, or other corrections and adjustments common in the oil and gas industry, many
7
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of which require retroactive application. These types of adjustments cannot be currently estimated and will be recorded in the period during which
the adjustments occur.
We are subject to legal proceedings, claims, liabilities and environmental matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. We accrue
for losses when such losses are considered probable and the amounts can be reasonably estimated.
Property and Equipment. We follow the “full-cost” method of accounting for oil and natural gas property and equipment costs. Under this
method of accounting, all productive and nonproductive costs incurred in the exploration, development, and acquisition of oil and natural gas
reserves are capitalized. Such costs may be incurred both prior to and after the acquisition of a property and include lease acquisitions, geological
and geophysical services, drilling, completion, and equipment. Internal costs incurred that are directly identified with exploration, development, and
acquisition activities undertaken by us for our own account, and which are not related to production, general corporate overhead, or similar
activities, are also capitalized. For the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, such internal costs capitalized totaled $3.1 million and $6.9
million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, such internal costs capitalized totaled $10.1 million and $20.9 million,
respectively. Interest costs are also capitalized to unproved oil and natural gas properties (refer to Note 5 of these consolidated financial statements
for further discussion on capitalized interest costs).
The “Property and Equipment” balances on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets are summarized for presentation
purposes. The following is a detailed breakout of our “Property and Equipment” balances:
September 30,
2015

(in thousands)
Property and Equipment
Proved oil and gas properties
Unproved oil and gas properties
Furniture, fixtures, and other equipment
Less – Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization

$

$

Property and Equipment, Net

December 31,
2014

5,910,250 $
69,697
43,687
(5,061,058)
962,576

$

5,826,995
64,903
42,257
(3,839,118)
2,095,037

No gains or losses are recognized upon the sale or disposition of oil and natural gas properties, except in transactions involving a
significant amount of reserves or where the proceeds from the sale of oil and natural gas properties would significantly alter the relationship
between capitalized costs and proved reserves of oil and natural gas attributable to a cost center. Internal costs associated with selling properties
are expensed as incurred.
Future development costs are estimated on a property-by-property basis based on current economic conditions and are amortized to
expense as our capitalized oil and gas property costs are amortized.
We compute the provision for depreciation, depletion, and amortization (“DD&A”) of oil and natural gas properties using the unit-ofproduction method. Under this method, we compute the provision by multiplying the total unamortized costs of oil and gas properties-including
future development costs, gas processing facilities, and both capitalized asset retirement obligations and undiscounted abandonment costs of wells
to be drilled, net of salvage values, but excluding costs of unproved properties-by an overall rate determined by dividing the physical units of oil
and natural gas produced (which excludes natural gas consumed in operations) during the period by the total estimated units of proved oil and
natural gas reserves (which excludes natural gas consumed in operations) at the beginning of the period. This calculation is done on a country-bycountry basis and the period over which we will amortize these properties is dependent on our production from these properties in future years.
Furniture, fixtures, and other equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated by the straight-line method at rates based on the estimated useful
lives of the property, which range between two and 20 years. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.
Geological and geophysical (“G&G”) costs incurred on developed properties are recorded in “Proved properties” and therefore subject to
amortization. G&G costs incurred that are directly associated with specific unproved properties are capitalized in “Unproved properties” and
evaluated as part of the total capitalized costs associated with a prospect. The cost of unproved properties not being amortized is assessed
quarterly, on a property-by-property basis, to determine whether such properties have been impaired. In determining whether such costs should be
impaired, we evaluate current drilling results, lease expiration dates, current oil and gas industry conditions, international economic conditions,
capital availability, and available geological and geophysical information. Any impairment assessed is added to the cost of proved properties being
amortized.
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Full-Cost Ceiling Test. At the end of each quarterly reporting period, the unamortized cost of oil and natural gas properties (including
natural gas processing facilities, capitalized asset retirement obligations, net of related salvage values and deferred income taxes, and excluding the
recognized asset retirement obligation liability) is limited to the sum of the estimated future net revenues from proved properties (excluding cash
outflows from recognized asset retirement obligations, including future development and abandonment costs of wells to be drilled, using the
preceding 12-months’ average price based on closing prices on the first day of each month, adjusted for price differentials, discounted at 10%, and
the lower of cost or fair value of unproved properties) adjusted for related income tax effects (“Ceiling Test”).
The calculations of the Ceiling Test and provision for DD&A are based on estimates of proved reserves. There are numerous uncertainties
inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and in projecting the future rates of production, timing, and plan of development. The accuracy
of any reserves estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. Results of
drilling, testing, and production subsequent to the date of the estimate may justify revision of such estimates. Accordingly, reserves estimates are
often different from the quantities of oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovered.
Principally due to the effects of pricing, and also due to the timing of projects and changes in our reserves product mix, for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015, we reported a non-cash impairment write-down, on a before-tax basis, of $321.5 million and $1.1 billion,
respectively, on our oil and natural gas properties.
If future capital expenditures out pace future discounted net cash flows in our reserve calculations, if we have significant declines in our oil
and natural gas reserves volumes (which also reduces our estimate of discounted future net cash flows from proved oil and natural gas reserves) or
if oil or natural gas prices decline or remain at levels prevalent in the current period, it is likely that non-cash write-downs of our oil and natural gas
properties will occur in the future. We cannot control and cannot predict what future prices for oil and natural gas will be, thus we cannot estimate
the amount or timing of any potential future non-cash write-down of our oil and natural gas properties due to decreases in oil or natural gas prices.
However, due to current trends in commodity pricing it is likely that we will record additional ceiling test write-downs in future periods.
Revenue Recognition. Oil and gas revenues are recognized when production is sold to a purchaser at a fixed or determinable price, when
delivery has occurred and title has transferred, and if collectability of the revenue is probable. Swift Energy uses the entitlement method of
accounting in which we recognize our ownership interest in production as revenue. If our sales exceed our ownership share of production, the
natural gas balancing payables are reported in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance
sheets. Natural gas balancing receivables are reported in “Other current assets” on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets
when our ownership share of production exceeds sales. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we did not have any material natural gas
imbalances.
Reclassification of Prior Period Balances. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the current-year
presentation.
Accounts Receivable. We assess the collectability of accounts receivable, and based on our judgment, we accrue a reserve when we
believe a receivable may not be collected. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we had an allowance for doubtful accounts of
approximately $0.1 million. The allowance for doubtful accounts has been deducted from the total “Accounts receivable” balance on the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
At September 30, 2015, our “Accounts receivable” balance included $22.6 million for oil and gas sales, $9.6 million for joint interest owners,
$3.4 million for severance tax credit receivables and $1.0 million for other receivables. At December 31, 2014, our “Accounts receivable” balance
included $34.8 million for oil and gas sales, $8.4 million for joint interest owners, $3.1 million for severance tax credit receivables and $2.2 million for
other receivables.
Supervision Fees. Consistent with industry practice, we charge a supervision fee to the wells we operate, including our wells, in which we
own up to a 100% working interest. Supervision fees are recorded as a reduction to “General and administrative, net”, on the accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of operations. Our supervision fees are allocated to each well based on general and administrative costs
incurred for well maintenance and support. The amount of supervision fees charged for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014 did not exceed our actual costs incurred. The total amount of supervision fees charged to the wells we operated were $2.1 million and $3.5
million for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively and $7.0 million and $9.2 million for the nine months ended September
30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Other Current Assets. Included in "Other current assets" on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets are inventories
which consist primarily of tubulars and other equipment and supplies that we expect to place in service in production
9
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operations. Our inventories are recorded at cost (weighted average method) and totaled $0.9 million at September 30, 2015 and $3.1 million at
December 31, 2014.
Also included in "Other current assets" on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets are prepaid expenses totaling $3.1
million and $3.9 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. These prepaid amounts cover well insurance, drilling contracts
and various other prepaid expenses.
Income Taxes. Under guidance contained in FASB ASC 740-10, deferred taxes are determined based on the estimated future tax effects of
differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities, given the provisions of the enacted tax laws.
We follow the recognition and disclosure provisions under guidance contained in FASB ASC 740-10-25. Under this guidance, tax positions
are evaluated for recognition using a more-likely-than-not threshold, and those tax positions requiring recognition are measured as the largest
amount of tax benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge
of all relevant information. Our policy is to record interest and penalties relating to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. At September 30,
2015, we did not have any accrued liability for uncertain tax positions and do not anticipate recognition of any significant liabilities for uncertain tax
positions during the next 12 months.
Our U.S. Federal income tax returns for 2007 forward, our Louisiana income tax returns from 1999 forward and our Texas franchise tax
returns after 2009 remain subject to examination by the taxing authorities. There are no material unresolved items related to periods previously
audited by these taxing authorities. No other jurisdiction returns are significant to our financial position.
For the three months ended September 30, 2015, the tax benefit for the book loss was fully offset with an increase in our valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the tax benefit for the book loss was mostly offset with an
increase in our valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities. The “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” balances on the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheets are summarized below (in thousands):
September 30,
2015

December 31,
2014

Trade accounts payable (1)
Accrued operating expenses
Accrued compensation costs
Asset retirement obligation – current portion
Accrued taxes
Other payables

$

17,600
8,134
7,064
7,124
5,652
3,542

$

31,153
10,784
8,715
10,709
2,957
3,926

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

49,116

$

68,244

(1) Included in “trade accounts payable” are liabilities of approximately $2.2 million and $13.7 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively,
for outstanding checks.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. We consider all highly liquid instruments with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. These amounts do not include cash balances that are contractually restricted.
Saka Energi Transaction. On July 15, 2014, we closed our transaction with PT Saka Energi Indonesia ("Saka Energi") to fully develop 8,300
acres of Fasken area Eagle Ford shale properties owned by Swift Energy in Webb County, Texas. Swift Energy sold a 36% full participating interest
in the Fasken properties to Saka Energi. Subject to the terms of the transaction, Swift Energy and Saka Energi were required to deposit cash on a
monthly basis into a separate Swift Energy-owned bank account to fund their respective portions of the on-going Fasken development program for
the following month.
During the third quarter of 2014, cash deposited in the account was contractually restricted for use in the Fasken development program and
therefore was recorded as restricted cash until the Company had performed the related development activities. The cash changes from the account
during the third quarter of 2014 relating to Saka Energi’s contributions were shown in the operating activities section of the accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of cash flows. The cash changes from
10
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the account during the third quarter of 2014 relating to Swift Energy’s contributions were reported in the investing activities section on the
accompanying condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.
Long-term Restricted Cash. Long-term restricted cash includes amounts held in escrow accounts to satisfy plugging and abandonment
obligations. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, these assets were approximately $1.0 million. These amounts are restricted as to their
current use and will be released when we have satisfied all plugging and abandonment obligations in certain fields. These restricted cash balances
are reported in “Other Long-Term Assets” on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Treasury Stock. Our treasury stock repurchases are reported at cost and are included “Treasury stock held, at cost" on the accompanying
condensed consolidated balance sheets. When the Company reissues treasury stock the gains are recorded in "Additional paid-in capital" ("APIC")
on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, while the losses are recorded to APIC to the extent that previous net gains on the
reissuance of treasury stock are available to offset the losses. If the loss is larger than the previous gains available then the loss is recorded to
"Retained earnings (Accumulated deficit)" on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. For the nine months ended September 30,
2015, the Company recorded losses of $4.9 million to "Retained earnings (Accumulated deficit)" as a result of treasury stock transactions.
New Accounting Pronouncements. In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, providing a comprehensive revenue recognition standard
for contracts with customers that supersedes current revenue recognition guidance. The guidance requires entities to recognize revenue using the
following five-step model: identify the contract with a customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price,
allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and recognize revenue as the entity satisfies each performance
obligation. Adoption of this standard could result in retrospective application, either in the form of recasting all prior periods presented or a
cumulative adjustment to equity in the period of adoption. The guidance is effective for annual and interim reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017. We are currently reviewing the new requirements to determine the impact of this guidance on our financial statements.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, providing guidance on the presentation of debt issuance costs. The guidance requires debt
issuance costs related to our long-term debt to be presented on the balance sheet as a reduction of the carrying amount of the long-term debt. This
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015 and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption
permitted and retrospective application required. This guidance, which we plan to adopt beginning with the first quarter of 2016, is not expected to
have a material impact on our financial statements.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, which changes the measurement principle for inventory from the lower of cost or market to
“lower of cost and net realizable value.” The standard simplifies the current guidance under which an entity must measure inventory at the lower of
cost or market (market in this context is defined as one of three different measures, one of which is net realizable value). Net realizable value is
defined as the “estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and
transportation.” The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods thereafter, and must be
applied prospectively after the date of adoption. We are currently reviewing the new requirement to determine the impact of this guidance on our
financial statements.
(3)

Share-Based Compensation

We have various types of share-based compensation plans. Refer to our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders
filed with the SEC on April 2, 2015, as well as Note 6 of our consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2014, for additional information related to these share-based compensation plans. We follow guidance contained in FASB ASC
718 to account for share-based compensation.
We receive a tax deduction for certain stock option exercises during the period the stock options are exercised, generally for the excess of
the market value on the exercise date over the exercise price of the stock option awards. We receive an additional tax deduction when restricted
stock awards vest at a higher value than the value used to recognize compensation expense at the date of grant. We are required to report excess tax
benefits from the award of equity instruments as financing cash flows. For the three months ended September 30, 2015, there was no income tax
shortfall in earnings, while for the three months ended September 30, 2014 we did recognize an income tax shortfall in earnings of $0.2 million. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, we recognized an income tax shortfall in earnings of $1.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively,
primarily related to restricted stock awards that vested at a price lower than the grant date fair value.
Share-based compensation expense for awards issued to both employees and non-employees, which was recorded in “General and
administrative, net” in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations, was $1.1 million and
11
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$1.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and $3.1 million and $5.1 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Share-based compensation recorded in lease operating cost was less than $0.1 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 and $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
We also capitalized $0.4 million and $0.9 million of share-based compensation for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
and capitalized $1.0 million and $2.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. We view stock option awards and
restricted stock awards with graded vesting as single awards with an expected life equal to the average expected life of component awards, and we
amortize the awards on a straight-line basis over the life of the awards.
Stock Option Awards
We use the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock option awards. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2015, 1,800 stock option awards expired leaving 1,330,390 stock option awards outstanding at September 30, 2015. There was no other
activity relating to our stock option awards during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
As of September 30, 2015, our stock option awards outstanding and exercisable had no aggregate intrinsic value since all outstanding
stock option awards were out of the money, and we did not have any remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option awards. At
September 30, 2015, the weighted average contract life of stock option awards outstanding and exercisable was 4.0 years.
Restricted Stock Awards
The plans, as described in Note 6 of our consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014, allow for the issuance of restricted stock awards that generally may not be sold or otherwise transferred until certain restrictions
have lapsed. The unrecognized compensation cost related to these awards is expected to be expensed over the period the restrictions lapse
(generally one to three years).
The compensation expense for these awards was determined based on the closing market price of our stock at the date of grant applied to
the total number of shares that were anticipated to fully vest. As of September 30, 2015, we had unrecognized compensation expense of $4.9 million
related to restricted stock awards which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years. The grant date fair value of shares
vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was $5.3 million.
The following table represents restricted stock award activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:
Shares

Wtd. Avg.
Grant Price

Restricted shares outstanding, beginning of period
Restricted shares granted
Restricted shares canceled
Restricted shares vested

1,414,012
609,238
(222,057)
(242,567)

$
$
$
$

14.81
2.64
13.84
21.66

Restricted shares outstanding, end of period

1,558,626

$

9.12

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units
For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company granted 216,450 units of performance-based restricted stock units containing
market conditions that require the price of our common stock to increase to $5.22 per share by December 31, 2017, the end of the performance period,
before any payout is achieved. These units were granted at 100% of the target payout level with conditions of the grants allowing for a payout
ranging between no payout and 200% of target. The compensation expense for these awards is based on the per unit grant date valuation using a
Monte-Carlo simulation multiplied by the target payout level. The payout level is calculated based on actual stock price performance achieved
during the performance period. The awards have a cliff vesting period of 3.0 years.
As of September 30, 2015, we had unrecognized compensation expense of $1.1 million related to our restricted stock units, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. No shares vested during the nine months
12
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ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. The weighted average grant date fair value for the restricted stock units granted during the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 was $1.98 per unit.

The following table represents restricted stock unit activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:
Wtd. Avg.
Grant Price

Shares
Restricted stock units outstanding, beginning of period
Restricted stock units granted
Restricted stock units canceled
Restricted stock units vested

374,950
216,450
—
—

$
$
$
$

13.36
1.98
—
—

Restricted stock units outstanding, end of period

591,400

$

9.20

Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units (Liability Awards)
During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company granted 147,812 units of cash-settled restricted stock units. These grants
require a cash payout based on the fair value of the stock price on the date of the next Annual Shareholder Meeting in May of 2016. The grants
have a cliff vesting period of approximately 1.0 year while the compensation expense and corresponding liability are remeasured quarterly over the
corresponding service period. The Company recorded a liability of less than $0.1 million for these awards in "Accounts Payable and accrued
liabilities” on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2015.
(4)

Earnings Per Share

The Company computes earnings per share in accordance with FASB ASC 260-10. Basic earnings per share (“Basic EPS”) has been
computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share ("Diluted EPS")
assumes, as of the beginning of the period, exercise of stock options and restricted stock grants using the treasury stock method. Diluted EPS also
assumes conversion of performance-based restricted stock units to common shares based on the number of shares (if any) that would be issuable,
according to predetermined performance and market goals, if the end of the reporting period was the end of the performance period. As we
recognized a net loss for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the unvested share-based payments and stock options were not
recognized in diluted earnings per share (“Diluted EPS”) calculations as they would be antidilutive. Certain of our stock options and restricted stock
grants that would potentially dilute Basic EPS in the future were also antidilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, and are
discussed below.
The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in the calculation of Basic and Diluted EPS for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Net Loss
Basic EPS:
Net Income (Loss) and Share
Amounts
Dilutive Securities:
Restricted Stock Awards
Restricted Stock Units
Diluted EPS:
Net Income (Loss) and Assumed
Share Conversions

$

(354,588)

Per Share
Amount

Shares

44,546

$

Net Income

(7.96) $

2,474

—
—

$

(354,588)

44,546
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Per Share
Amount

Shares

43,850

$

0.06

$

0.06

564
59

$

(7.96) $

2,474

44,473

Table of Contents
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Net Loss
Basic EPS:
Net Income (Loss) and Share Amounts
Dilutive Securities:
Restricted Stock Awards
Restricted Stock Units
Diluted EPS:
Net Income (Loss) and Assumed Share
Conversions

$

(1,124,532)

Per Share
Amount

Shares
44,431

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014

$

(25.31)

Net Income
$

14,743

43,768

—
—

$

(1,124,532)

44,431

Per Share
Amount

Shares
$

0.34

$

0.33

469
62

$

(25.31)

$

14,743

44,299

Approximately 1.3 million and 1.4 million stock options to purchase shares were not included in the computation of Diluted EPS for the three
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 because they were antidilutive. We also had approximately 1.3 million and 1.4 million stock options to
purchase shares were not included in the computation of Diluted EPS for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, because these stock
options were antidilutive.
Approximately 1.0 million and 0.2 million restricted stock awards for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and
approximately 0.8 million and 0.3 million restricted stock awards for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, were not
included in the computation of Diluted EPS because they were antidilutive.
Approximately 1.2 million and 0.7 million shares for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and approximately 1.2
million and 0.7 million shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to performance-based restricted stock
units that could be converted to common shares based on predetermined performance and market goals were not included in the computation of
Diluted EPS because the performance and market conditions had not been met, assuming the end of the reporting period was the end of the
performance period.
(5)

Long-Term Debt
Our long-term debt as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, was as follows (in thousands):
September 30, 2015

December 31, 2014

7.125% senior notes due in 2017
8.875% senior notes due in 2020 (1)
7.875% senior notes due in 2022 (1)
Bank Borrowings due in 2017

$

250,000
223,043
404,089
302,000

$

250,000
222,775
404,459
197,300

Long-Term Debt (1)

$

1,179,132

$

1,074,534

(1) Amounts are shown net of any debt discount or premium

As of September 30, 2015, we had $302.0 million of outstanding bank borrowings on our credit facility which has a maturity date of
November 1, 2017. The maturities on our senior notes are $250.0 million in 2017, $225.0 million in 2020 and $400.0 million in 2022.
We had capitalized interest on our unproved properties in the amount of $1.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014, respectively. We had capitalized interest on our unproved properties in the amount of $3.6 million and $3.7 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Debt Issuance Costs. Legal fees, accounting fees, underwriting fees, printing costs, and other direct expenses associated with extensions
of our bank credit facility and public debt offerings are capitalized and then amortized on an effective interest basis over the life of each of the
respective senior note offerings and credit facility.
The 7.125% senior notes due in 2017 mature on June 1, 2017, and the balance of their issuance costs at September 30, 2015, was $0.9 million.
The 8.875% senior notes due in 2020 mature on January 15, 2020, and the balance of their issuance costs
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at September 30, 2015, was $2.7 million. The 7.875% senior notes due in 2022 mature on March 1, 2022, and the balance of their issuance costs at
September 30, 2015, was $5.4 million. The balance of our revolving credit facility issuance costs at September 30, 2015, was $2.0 million.
Bank Borrowings. Effective November 2, 2015, we executed an amendment to our credit facility agreement lowering our borrowing base
and commitment amount, changing our financial covenant ratios as noted below, and providing for a borrowing base redetermination on or about
February 1, 2016 if we have not reduced the current outstanding principal amount of our unsecured or subordinated debt by at least 50% by that
date, along with other changes detailed below. The borrowing base and commitment amount under our credit facility were decreased from $375.0
million to $330.0 million while the maturity date of November 1, 2017 remained unchanged, subject to being accelerated to March 2, 2017 if by that
date the maturity dates of our existing Senior Notes are not extended to May 1, 2018 or later, or if those Senior Notes are not repurchased, redeemed
or refinanced.
Effective November 2, 2015, the amendment made changes to the existing adjusted working capital ratio, interest coverage ratio and senior
secured leverage ratio (all as defined in the Credit Agreement) and removed the existing liquidity requirement in order for us to pay interest on our
existing senior notes or any new debt (after giving effect to such interest payment).
The adjusted working capital ratio was amended to require the ratio to not be less than 0.5 to 1.0 for each of the quarters up to and ending
on December 31, 2016, returning to a ratio of not less than 1.0 to 1.0 at any time thereafter.
The interest coverage ratio was amended to require the ratio to not be less than 1.15 to 1.0 for the quarters ending on December 31, 2015
through June 30, 2016, 1.3 to 1.0 for the quarters ending September 30, 2016 through December 31, 2016, and 2.0 to 1.0 any time thereafter.
The senior secured leverage ratio was amended to require the ratio to not be greater than 3.5 to 1.0 for the quarters ending December 31,
2015 through June 30, 2016, 3.0 to 1.0 for the quarters ending September 30, 2016 through December 31, 2016, and 2.5 to 1.0 any time thereafter. The
amendment also modified other requirements as noted in the paragraphs below. Based upon our current estimates of production and current
commodity futures prices, our ability to remain in compliance with these modified financial covenant ratios in future periods is uncertain and will be
impacted by a number of factors, including those which are not within our control.
Since inception, no cash dividends have been declared on our common stock. As of September 30, 2015, the terms of the credit facility
required us to secure the facility with collateral equal to at least 75% (increasing to 95%, effective November 2, 2015) of our oil and natural gas
properties. Under the terms of the credit facility, the commitment amount can be less than or equal to the total amount of the borrowing base with
unanimous consent of the bank group as it might change from time to time. As of September 30, 2015, we were in compliance with these provisions.
We had $302.0 million and $197.3 million in outstanding borrowings under our credit facility at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. As of September 30, 2015, the interest rate on our credit facility was either (a) the lead bank’s prime rate plus an applicable margin or (b)
the Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin. However with respect to (a), if the lead bank’s prime rate was not higher than each of the federal funds
rate plus 0.5%, and the adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 1%, the greatest of these three rates then applied. The applicable
margins vary depending on the level of outstanding debt with escalating rates of 75 to 175 basis points (increasing to 100 to 200 basis points
effective November 2, 2015) above the Alternative Base Rate and escalating rates of 175 to 275 basis points (increasing to 200 to 300 basis points
effective November 2, 2015) for Eurodollar rate loans. At September 30, 2015, the lead bank's prime rate was 3.25%. The commitment fee terms
associated with the credit facility were 0.50% for the three months ended September 30, 2015.
At September 30, 2015, the terms of our credit facility included, among other restrictions, a limitation on the level of cash dividends (not to
exceed $15.0 million in any fiscal year), a remaining aggregate limitation on purchases of our stock of $50.0 million, and limitations on incurring other
debt. At September 30, 2015, our bank credit agreement contained financial covenants detailing certain minimum financial ratios that must be
maintained. The first was an adjusted working capital ratio of adjusted current assets to current liabilities (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not
less than 1.0 to 1.0, which was met at September 30, 2015 as the Company's ratio at that date was 1.3 to 1.0. The second ratio was an interest
coverage ratio (as amended on May 1, 2015), calculated on a trailing twelve month basis of EBITDAX to interest expense (as defined in the Credit
Agreement), of no less than 1.5 to 1.0, which was met at September 30, 2015 as the Company's ratio at that date was 2.1 to 1.0. The third ratio was a
new senior secured leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement, effective on May 1, 2015), requiring that the ratio of senior secured liabilities
on the last day of the quarter to EBITDAX, calculated on a trailing twelve month basis, not be greater than 3.0 to 1.0, which was met as the
Company's September 30, 2015 ratio was 2.0 to 1.0. The May 1, 2015 amendment also added a new liquidity requirement (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) effective July 1, 2015 (and expiring on November 2, 2015 due
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to the most recent amendment) which effectively required that at the date of any payment of interest in respect to the existing senior notes or any
new debt (after giving effect to such interest payment), the unused borrowing base may not be less than 15% of the commitment amount then in
effect. We were in compliance with this covenant during the time period in which it was in effect.
Interest expense on the credit facility, including commitment fees and amortization of debt issuance costs, totaled $2.3 million and $1.7
million for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and totaled $6.3 million and $5.9 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The amount of commitment fees included in interest expense, net was $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and was $0.5 million and $0.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014, respectively.
Senior Notes Due In 2022. These notes consist of $400.0 million of 7.875% senior notes that will mature on March 1, 2022. On November
30, 2011, we issued $250.0 million of these senior notes at a discount of $2.1 million or 99.156% of par, which equates to an effective yield to maturity
of 8%. The original discount of $2.1 million is recorded in “Long-Term Debt” on our condensed consolidated balance sheets and will be amortized
over the life of the notes using the effective interest method. On October 3, 2012, we issued an additional $150.0 million of these senior notes at
105% of par, which equates to a yield to worst of 6.993%. The premium of $7.5 million is recorded in “Long-Term Debt” on our condensed
consolidated balance sheets and will be amortized over the life of the notes using the effective interest method. The notes are senior unsecured
obligations that rank equally with all of our existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness, are effectively subordinated to all our existing and
future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness, including borrowing under our bank credit
facility, and will rank senior to any future subordinated indebtedness of Swift Energy. Interest on these notes is payable semi-annually on March 1
and September 1 and commenced on March 1, 2012. On or after March 1, 2017, we may redeem some or all of these notes, with certain restrictions, at
a redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest, of 103.938% of principal, declining in twelve-month intervals to 100% in 2020 and thereafter. In
addition, we may redeem up to 35% of the principal amount of the notes with the net proceeds of qualified offerings of our equity at a redemption
price of 107.875% of the principal amount of the notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest. We incurred approximately $7.5 million of debt issuance
costs related to these notes, which is included in “Other Long–Term Assets” on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets and will
be amortized to interest expense, net over the life of the notes using the effective interest method. In the event of certain changes in control of Swift
Energy, each holder of notes will have the right to require us to repurchase all or any part of the notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of
the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The terms of these notes include, among other restrictions,
limitations on our ability to repurchase shares, incur debt, create liens, make investments, transfer or sell assets, enter into transactions with
affiliates and consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of our assets. We were in compliance with the provisions of the indenture
governing these senior notes as of September 30, 2015.
Interest expense on the senior notes due in 2022, including amortization of debt issuance costs and debt premium, totaled $7.9 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 and $23.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
Senior Notes Due In 2020. These notes consist of $225.0 million of 8.875% senior notes issued at 98.389% of par, which equates to an
effective yield to maturity of 9.125%. The notes were issued on November 25, 2009 with an original discount of $3.6 million and will mature on
January 15, 2020. The original discount of $3.6 million is recorded in “Long-Term Debt” on our condensed consolidated balance sheets and will be
amortized over the life of the notes using the effective interest method. The notes are senior unsecured obligations that rank equally with all of our
existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness, are effectively subordinated to all our existing and future secured indebtedness to the extent of
the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness, including borrowing under our bank credit facility, and will rank senior to any future
subordinated indebtedness of Swift Energy. Interest on these notes is payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 and commenced on January
15, 2010. We may redeem some or all of these notes, with certain restrictions, at a redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest, of 104.438% of
principal, declining in twelve-month intervals to 100% in 2018 and thereafter. We incurred approximately $5.0 million of debt issuance costs related
to these notes, which is included in “Other Long–Term Assets” on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets and will be amortized
to interest expense, net over the life of the notes using the effective interest method. In the event of certain changes in control of Swift Energy, each
holder of notes will have the right to require us to repurchase all or any part of the notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of the principal
amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The terms of these notes include, among other restrictions, limitations on our
ability to repurchase shares, incur debt, create liens, make investments, transfer or sell assets, enter into transactions with affiliates and consolidate,
merge or transfer all or substantially all of our assets. We were in compliance with the provisions of the indenture governing these senior notes as
of September 30, 2015.
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Interest expense on the senior notes due in 2020, including amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount, totaled $5.2 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 and $15.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
Senior Notes Due In 2017. These notes consist of $250.0 million of 7.125% senior notes due in 2017, which were issued on June 1, 2007 at
100% of the principal amount and will mature on June 1, 2017. The notes are senior unsecured obligations that rank equally with all of our existing
and future senior unsecured indebtedness, are effectively subordinated to all our existing and future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value
of the collateral securing such indebtedness, including borrowing under our bank credit facility, and will rank senior to any future subordinated
indebtedness of Swift Energy. Interest on these notes is payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, and commenced on December 1, 2007.
We may redeem some or all of these notes, with certain restrictions, starting at a redemption price of 100% of the principal, plus accrued and unpaid
interest. We incurred approximately $4.2 million of debt issuance costs related to these notes, which is included in “Other Long-Term Assets” on
the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets and will be amortized to interest expense, net over the life of the notes using the
effective interest method. In the event of certain changes in control of Swift Energy, each holder of notes will have the right to require us to
repurchase all or any part of the notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the
date of purchase. The terms of these notes include, among other restrictions, limitations on our ability to repurchase shares, incur debt, create liens,
make investments, transfer or sell assets, enter into transactions with affiliates and consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of our
assets. We were in compliance with the provisions of the indenture governing these senior notes as of September 30, 2015.
Interest expense on the senior notes due in 2017, including amortization of debt issuance costs, totaled $4.6 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 and $13.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
(6)

Acquisitions and Dispositions

On July 15, 2014, we closed our transaction with PT Saka Energi Indonesia ("Saka Energi") to fully develop 8,300 acres of Fasken area Eagle
Ford shale properties owned by Swift Energy in Webb County, Texas. Swift Energy sold a 36% full participating interest in the Fasken properties to
Saka Energi.
There were no other material acquisitions or dispositions in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 or 2014.
(7)

Price-Risk Management Activities

The Company follows FASB ASC 815-10, which requires that changes in the derivative’s fair value are recognized in earnings. The
changes in the fair value of our derivatives are recognized in "Price-risk management and other, net” on the accompanying condensed consolidated
statements of operations. We have a price-risk management policy to use derivative instruments to protect against declines in oil and natural gas
prices, mainly through the purchase of price swaps, floors, calls, collars and participating collars.
During the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, we recorded a net gain of less than of $0.1 million and a net gain of $5.0
million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, we recorded a net gain of $0.3 million and a net loss of $2.7 million,
respectively, relating to our derivative activities. The effects of our derivatives are included in the "Other" section of our operating activities on the
accompanying condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.
The fair values of our derivatives are computed using commonly accepted industry-standard models and are periodically verified against
quotes from brokers. The fair value of our current unsettled derivative assets at September 30, 2015 was $0.1 million and was recognized on the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet in “Other current assets.” There were no material unsettled derivative liabilities as of
September 30, 2015.
At September 30, 2015, we also had an immaterial amount of receivables for settled derivatives recognized on the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheet in "Accounts receivable", which were subsequently received in October 2015.
The Company uses an International Swap and Derivatives Association "ISDA" master agreement for our derivative contracts. This is an
industry standardized contract containing the general conditions of our derivative transactions including provisions relating to netting derivative
settlement payments under certain circumstances (such as default). For reporting purposes, the Company has elected to not offset the asset and
liability fair value amounts of its derivatives on the accompanying balance
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sheets. If all counterparties were in a default situation, the Company, under the right of set-off, would have shown a net derivative fair value asset of
$0.1 million at September 30, 2015. For further discussion related to the fair value of the Company's derivatives, refer to Note 8 of these condensed
consolidated financial statements.
The following tables summarize the weighted average prices and future production volumes for our unsettled derivative contracts in place
as of September 30, 2015:
Natural Gas Basis Derivatives
(East Texas Houston Ship Channel Settlements)

Total Volumes
(MMBtu)

2015 Contracts
Swaps
(8)

Swap Fixed
Price

1,220,000 $

(0.016)

Fair Value Measurements

FASB ASC 820-10 defines fair value, establishes guidelines for measuring fair value and expands disclosure about fair value measurements.
Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, bank borrowings, and senior
notes. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to
the highly liquid or short-term nature of these instruments.
Based upon quoted market prices as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value and carrying value of our senior notes was
as follows (in millions):
September 30, 2015
Carrying
Value

Fair Value
7.125% senior notes due in 2017
8.875% senior notes due in 2020
7.875% senior notes due in 2022

$
$
$

December 31, 2014

67.5
58.5
108.0

$
$
$

Carrying
Value

Fair Value

250.0 $
223.0 $
404.1 $

153.0
133.1
198.0

$
$
$

250.0
222.8
404.5

Our senior notes due in 2017, 2020 and 2022 are stated at carrying value on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, net
of any discount or premium. If we recorded these notes at fair value they would be Level 1 in our fair value hierarchy as they are traded in an active
market with quoted prices for identical instruments.
The following table presents our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, and
are categorized using the fair value hierarchy. For additional discussion related to the fair value of the Company's derivatives, refer to Note 7 of
these condensed consolidated financial statements. The fair value hierarchy has three levels based on the reliability of the inputs used to determine
the fair value (in millions):
Fair Value Measurements at
Quoted Prices in
Active markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Total Assets /
(Liabilities)
September 30, 2015
Assets:
Natural Gas Basis Derivatives
December 31, 2014
Assets:
Natural Gas Derivatives
Natural Gas Basis Derivatives
Liabilities:
Natural Gas Basis Derivatives

$

0.1

$

—

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

$

0.1

$

—

2.4
0.1

—
—

2.4
0.1

—
—

0.1

—

0.1

—
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Our unsettled derivative assets and liabilities in the table above are measured at gross fair value and are shown on the accompanying
condensed consolidated balance sheets in “Other current assets” and "Accounts payable and accrued liabilities", respectively.
Level 1 – Uses quoted prices in active markets for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities. Instruments in this category have comparable
fair values for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2 – Uses quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or observable inputs for assets or liabilities in non-active
markets. Instruments in this category are periodically verified against quotes from brokers and include our commodity derivatives that we value
using commonly accepted industry-standard models which contain inputs such as contract prices, risk-free rates, volatility measurements and other
observable market data that are obtained from independent third-party sources.
Level 3 – Uses unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities that are in non-active markets. We do not have any assets or liabilities in this
category that are not supported by market activity and have significant unobservable inputs.
(9)

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record these obligations in accordance with the guidance contained in FASB ASC 410-20. This guidance requires entities to record the
fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with the retirement obligations of tangible long-lived assets in the period in which it is
incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset is increased. The liability is discounted from the
expected date of abandonment. Over time, accretion of the liability is recognized each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated on a unit-ofproduction basis as part of depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense for our oil and gas properties. Upon settlement of the liability, the
Company either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon settlement which is included in the “Property and
Equipment” balance on our accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. This guidance requires us to record a liability for the fair value
of our dismantlement and abandonment costs, excluding salvage values.
The following provides a roll-forward of our asset retirement obligation (in thousands):
2015
Asset Retirement Obligations recorded as of January 1
Accretion expense
Liabilities incurred for new wells and facilities construction
Reductions due to sold and abandoned wells and facilities
Revisions in estimates

$

72,831
4,156
147
(4,574)
12

Asset Retirement Obligations as of September 30

$

72,572

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, approximately $7.1 million and $10.7 million of our asset retirement obligations were
classified as a current liability in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
(10)

Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Swift Energy Company (the parent) is the issuer and Swift Energy Operating, LLC (a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Swift Energy
Company) is the sole guarantor of our senior notes due in 2017, 2020 and 2022. Swift Energy Company does not have any independent assets or
operations. The guarantees on our senior notes due in 2017, 2020 and 2022 are full and unconditional. All subsidiaries of Swift Energy Company,
other than Swift Energy Operating, LLC, are minor.
(11)

Commitments and Contingencies

In January of 2015 the Company entered into a new eleven year lease agreement for office space in Houston, Texas. The operating lease
commenced on March 1, 2015 and may be terminated after seven years. As of September 30, 2015, the minimum contractual obligations are
approximately $24 million in the aggregate. We will amortize the total payments under the lease agreement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.
During the second quarter of 2015, the Company entered into an additional gas transportation agreement covering transportation from 2016
to 2020. The agreement increased our minimum contractual obligations, over the amounts reported in
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our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2014 by approximately $39 million, with no change to our obligations during 2015.
Refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of these condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
We had no other material changes from amounts referenced under Note 5 in our Notes to consolidated financial statements from our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2014.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our financial information and our consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes included in this report and our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. The
following information contains forward-looking statements; see “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 31 of this report.
Industry Overview
The recent collapse in oil prices is among the most severe on record. The Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) 2014
decision to increase their market share, together with production increases in early 2015, has caused considerable pressure on the oil markets for the
near term. According to the Energy Information Administration (EIA), West Texas Intermediate (WTI) crude oil spot prices have fallen from a
monthly high of $105.79 per barrel in June of 2014 to a recent monthly low of $42.87 per barrel in August of 2015, which equates to a 59% decrease in
crude oil pricing during that period. The drop in crude oil pricing is due in large part to increased world production levels and crude oil inventories.
According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), third quarter 2015 world oil production increased to 96.8 million barrels of oil per day, from 94.2
million barrels in the third quarter of 2014. Third quarter 2015 world oil demand increased to 95.2 million barrels of oil per day, from 93.2 million barrels
in the third quarter of 2014. In the near term, we expect currently depressed oil prices to stimulate world oil demand and global cuts in exploration
and production budgets to reduce incremental oil supply, which should ultimately restore equilibrium to the world oil market. This rebalancing of the
global oil markets could also occur more quickly if OPEC cuts production. We expect significant improvement in oil prices as this rebalancing
occurs.
According to the EIA, Henry Hub Natural Gas monthly spot prices have fallen from a high of $6.00 per MMBtu in February of 2014 to a
recent low of $1.92 per MMBtu during the week of November 2, 2015, which equates to a 68% decrease during that period. The November 2, 2015
weekly price of $1.92/MMBtu also decreased 56% when compared with the average annual Henry Hub spot price of $4.39 per MMBtu in 2014. While
these recent decreases in natural gas prices create significant near term pressure on gas producers, the longer term prospects for natural gas prices,
especially in the Gulf Coast Region, are expected to be more favorable.
According to the EIA, natural gas exports to Mexico set a monthly record high in July and August of this year, averaging 3.3 billion cubic
feet per day (Bcf/d), and averaged 2.7 Bcf/d in the first eight months of this year, which was 38% higher than the average price for the same period
last year. Demand growth is also occurring in the electric generation sector. The natural gas share of total U.S. electricity generation surpassed the
coal share in July 2015 for the second time ever, with natural gas fueling 35.0% of total generation to coal's 34.9% share. Near term forecasts of
warmer winter weather together with natural gas storage levels, which are 3.2% higher than the 5-year average, have resulted in significant weakness
in natural gas prices. We expect natural gas prices to recover with continued growth in U.S. demand, reduced gas-directed exploration and
production budgets, and a return to more normalized weather patterns.
Company Overview
We are an independent oil and natural gas company formed in 1979 engaged in the exploration, development, acquisition and operation of
oil and natural gas properties, with a focus on our reserves and production from our South Texas properties as well as onshore and inland waters of
Louisiana. We hold a large acreage position in Texas prospective for Eagle Ford shale and Olmos tight sands development. Natural gas production
accounted for 68% of our third quarter of 2015 production and 49% of our oil and gas sales while oil constituted 20% of our third quarter of 2015
production and 44% of our oil and gas sales.
•

Balance Sheet Restructuring: We are considering a range of alternatives to improve our liquidity and balance sheet. These alternatives include
new debt, equity and/or equity-linked financing alternatives, exchange offers, asset sales and other avenues to protect value for the Company
and its various constituents. We are currently engaged in ongoing negotiations with a group of holders of our outstanding senior notes
regarding restructuring our senior notes, along with possible avenues for increasing our near-term liquidity, with no understandings reached to
date. The outcome of the consideration of these potential alternatives and our ongoing bondholder negotiations, the timing of which cannot be
accurately predicted at this time, are likely to affect our liquidity, future operations and financial condition.

•

The significant decline in crude oil and natural gas prices has affected our business: Oil prices throughout the current year have been
significantly lower than 2014 prices, with our average oil prices received falling from approximately $72 per barrel during the fourth quarter of
2014 to approximately $45 per barrel in the third quarter of 2015 (approximately a 38% decrease). Natural gas prices have also been lower during
the same period, with our average natural gas prices received falling from
21

Table of Contents
$3.58 per Mcf during the fourth quarter of 2014 to $2.51 per Mcf in the third quarter of 2015 (approximately 30% lower). These price decreases
have had a significant impact on our results and financial condition during 2015. If lower crude oil and natural gas prices persist or worsen, our
future cash flows and financial condition will be negatively impacted.
•

2015 planned capital expenditures: Recent lower oil and natural gas prices have reduced operating cash flows and, as a result, we have
meaningfully reduced our capital spending in 2015 compared to 2014 levels. The Company is targeting annual production levels of 11.6 to 11.7
MMBoe based on planned full-year capital expenditures of $110 to $120 million, with a primary focus on drilling activity in our dry gas Fasken
area in Webb County and our South AWP area in McMullen County. A portion of our capital expenditure program is discretionary and may be
further deferred, if necessary. Our full year 2015 capital budget calls for fourth quarter capital expenditures of approximately $20 to $30 million,
which we currently intend to fund out of the remaining $23 million of availability under our recently amended credit facility, along with operating
cash flow.

•

2015 cost reduction initiatives: We have taken significant actions to reduce our future capital, operating and overhead costs. During the first
nine months of 2015 we have reduced drilling and completion costs and terminated one of our drilling contracts. In conjunction with the
reduction in our capital spending plans for 2015, we continue to negotiate with all of our primary suppliers and service companies to reduce our
capital and operating cost structures. These initiatives have already helped us recognize a meaningful reduction of costs during the first nine
months of 2015, with our lease operating expenses, excluding workover costs, decreasing from $66.3 million spent during the nine months of
2014 to $52.7 million spent during the first nine months of 2015. By focusing operations in our high quality Fasken and AWP areas, we will
continue to reduce our development costs by taking advantage of existing infrastructure and experienced operating personnel. During 2015, the
Company also implemented various cost savings efforts including a significant headcount reduction and the signing of a new lease agreement
for reduced corporate office space. As a result of these changes, our net general and administrative costs have decreased from $33.6 million
during the first nine months of 2014 to $31.5 million during the first nine months of 2015, including non-recurring costs incurred during 2015 of
approximately $2.8 million related to the initial implementation of these cost savings efforts. These changes will allow us to continue recognizing
a meaningful reduction in costs through the end of the year and provide prospective sustained lower overhead costs.

•

NYSE Notice of non-compliance with continued listing standards. Our common stock continues to trade on the NYSE. Since the Company’s
August 14, 2015 receipt of notice of listing non-compliance from the NYSE due to the 30-day average closing price of our common stock being
below $1.00 per share and our 30-day average global capitalization being below $50 million, we have submitted to the NYSE an 18-month
business plan to regain compliance with the global capitalization standard and we have had our plan accepted by the NYSE. Even though the
NYSE has accepted our 18-month business plan on the global capitalization standard, we remain subject to the 6-month cure period for the price
per share standard that ends February 14, 2016 but could be extended through the date of our annual shareholders’ meeting in May 2016. The
continued listing of our common stock for trading on the NYSE will depend on our ability, within the cure periods previously noted, to remedy
these compliance deficiencies.

Third Quarter 2015 Operating Highlights
•

Increasing capacity and enhancing asset value in the Eagle Ford: During the third quarter of 2015 the Company secured an additional 30
MMcf per day of firm capacity out of the Fasken area. The Company now has total firm capacity of 190 MMcf per day to support continued
development of the Eagle Ford in its Webb County acreage. During the third quarter of 2015, the Company also drilled and completed its first
upper Eagle Ford well in Fasken.
Our South Texas drilling activities continue to benefit from optimized well design as we are drilling longer laterals in our horizontal wells and
performing more frac stages per well. We are using proprietary 3D seismic techniques to identify a narrow high quality interval of the lower
Eagle Ford within which to steer our laterals, resulting in marked improvement in our well results. Before completion operations commence, we
conduct GEOFRAC logging of the horizontal well bore, which has led to more effective placement of frac stages and has also assisted in
identifying sections of rock that are ideal for stimulation. These techniques have been effectively deployed in wells drilled in our Fasken and
North AWP areas as well as the joint venture area in the central portion of AWP, proving the transferability of this technology. We have
observed that longer laterals with additional frac stages and more intense treatment of each stage have resulted in improved rates of return of
our Eagle Ford horizontal wells when comparing results using normalized oil and gas prices. Our current process allows us to drill wells in our
Fasken area with laterals of over 7,500 feet and over 20 frac stages per well. We believe the successful extension of lateral lengths, increased
number of frac stages and engineered spacing of these stages will result in further improvements in our economic returns across all of our Eagle
Ford acreage.
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•

Improved value of Eagle Ford shale assets through reductions in per well costs: We have seen improved performance this year in our initial
production (IP) rates for Eagle Ford wells and have also seen our 2015 average per well drilling costs decreasing, with the average per well cost
for our Fasken wells decreasing to $2.2 million during third quarter of 2015 from $3.1 million during 2014. We have also experienced efficiency
gains in our hydraulic fracturing activities (including the testing of a new enhanced completion design during the third quarter of 2015),
lowering the overall frac cost per stage while performing more frac stages per well, using additional proppant in each stimulated stage and
achieving better overall results as measured by rates of return and net present value. As a result of these improvements, the average completion
cost per well in the Fasken area has decreased to $3.4 million during the third quarter of 2015 from $4.6 million during 2014. The combined
drilling and completion costs per well for the third quarter of 2015 have been reduced to $5.6 million, on average, from $7.7 million during 2014.

•

Third quarter 2015 revenues and net loss: Our third quarter oil and gas revenues decreased 55%, or $73.9 million, when compared to third
quarter of 2014 revenues, primarily due to overall lower commodity pricing as well as 33% lower oil and 29% lower NGL production, partially
offset by 18% higher natural gas production. Our net loss of $354.6 million for the third quarter of 2015 is primarily due to the $321.5 million noncash write-down of our oil and gas properties.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Historically, our primary sources of liquidity have been cash flows from operations, borrowings under our credit facility and issuances of
senior notes. Our primary use of cash flow has been to fund capital expenditures used to develop our oil and gas properties. We summarize below
net cash provided by operating activities for the first nine months of 2015, the amended terms of our credit agreement and available borrowings
under it, 2015 capital expenditures and our related consideration of opportunities to improve our liquidity and balance sheet.
•

2015 borrowing base redeterminations and credit facility financial covenants: As part of our regularly scheduled November 2015 borrowing
base redetermination, our revolving credit facility borrowing base and commitment amounts were reduced to $330.0 million from $375.0 million,
resulting in $23 million of remaining availability under the credit facility as of November 2, 2015 (refer to Note 5 of these condensed consolidated
financial statements for more information). Our interest payment obligations under our senior notes over the next 75 days (between November 2,
2015 and January 15, 2016) total approximately $19 million.
Additionally, the revolving credit facility has been amended to provide for revised financial covenants (refer to Note 5 of these condensed
consolidated financial statements for more information), including removal of the existing liquidity requirement and the following changes:
•

The adjusted working capital ratio is being reduced for the remainder of 2015 and all of 2016 to 0.5 to 1.0, and will then return to its previous
minimum ratio of 1.0 to 1.0 thereafter

•

The ratio of EBITDAX to Interest Expense (the interest coverage ratio) is being reduced for the remainder of 2015 and through June 30,
2016 to 1.15 to 1.0, increasing for the remainder of 2016 to 1.3 to 1.0, then increasing to 2.0 to 1.0 thereafter.

•

The senior secured leverage ratio is being increased for the remainder of 2015 and through June 30, 2016 to 3.5 to 1.0, decreasing for the
remainder of 2016 to 3.0 to 1.0, then decreasing to 2.5 to 1.0 thereafter.

Additionally, as part of the credit agreement amendment, an interim borrowing base redetermination on or about February 1, 2016 will be
required if we have not reduced the current outstanding principal amount of our unsecured or subordinated debt by at least 50% by that date.
The amended facility also increased the interest rate to be paid under the credit facility by 25 basis points on a going-forward basis, and
increased the required collateral coverage from 75% to 95%.
As of September 30, 2015, we were in compliance with all of the financial covenant ratios (including being in compliance with the liquidity
covenant as of our most recent interest payment in September of 2015). Based upon our current estimates of production and current commodity
futures prices, our ability to remain in compliance with these financial covenant ratios in future periods is uncertain and will be impacted by a
number of factors, including those which are not within our control. If we are unable to comply with these covenants or those in our senior
notes (all of which were trading at approximately 27% of face value on a fair value basis as of September 30, 2015, refer to Note 8 of these
condensed consolidated financial
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statements), we may be required to request waivers, otherwise amend our debt instruments to address our noncompliance or possibly repay
some or all amounts outstanding thereunder.
If we experience the continuation of low oil and gas prices, or if they decline even further, we anticipate that our existing revolving credit facility
borrowing base and commitment amounts will be reduced further (on the date of our next borrowing base redetermination) from the current
$330.0 million. If that were to occur we may need to repay any borrowings above the level of any revised borrowing base and/or we may need to
further amend our current financial covenants. We are focused on our balance sheet and additional financing opportunities and options to
reduce our reliance on our revolving credit facility and improve Swift Energy’s long-term liquidity, including additional capital alternatives in the
marketplace.
•

Outstanding bank borrowings and liquidity for the remainder of 2015: As noted above, effective November 2, 2015, we executed an
amendment to our credit facility, lowering our borrowing base and commitment amount from $375.0 million to $330.0 million. As of November 2,
2015, we had approximately $302 million in outstanding borrowings under our credit facility, leaving us with availability to borrow approximately
$23 million (excluding $5.1 million in letters of credit). We plan to control our liquidity during the remainder of 2015 by maintaining a reduced
level of capital expenditures to match market expectations of reduced commodity prices.

•

2015 capital expenditures: Our capital expenditures on a cash flow basis were $126.8 million in the first nine months of 2015, compared to
$317.0 million in the first nine months of 2014. The expenditures during the current period, which were $90.5 million on an accrual basis, were
primarily devoted to developmental drilling and completion activity in our South Texas core region as we drilled two wells in our AWP Eagle
Ford field and 14 wells in our Fasken field. These expenditures were funded by approximately $105 million of net borrowings under our credit
facility along with operating cash flows.

•

Net cash provided by operating activities: For the first nine months of 2015, our net cash provided by operating activities was $28.4 million,
representing a $223.8 million decrease, compared to $252.2 million generated during the same period of 2014, primarily due to lower commodity
prices and to a lesser degree due to decreased oil production which was partially offset by lower operating costs. For the three months ended
September 30, 2015, our net cash used in operating activities was $1.0 million, representing a $31.2 million decrease, compared to $30.2 million in
net cash provided by operating activities generated during the three months ended June 30, 2015, primarily due to higher semi-annual interest
payments on our senior notes during the third quarter of 2015 and impacted to a lesser degree by other working capital changes and lower
commodity prices.

•

Balance Sheet Restructuring: We are considering a range of alternatives to improve our liquidity and balance sheet. These alternatives include
new debt, equity and/or equity-linked financing alternatives, exchange offers, asset sales and other avenues to protect value for the Company
and its various constituents. We are currently engaged in ongoing negotiations with a group of holders of our outstanding senior notes
regarding restructuring our senior notes, along with possible avenues for increasing our near-term liquidity, with no understandings reached to
date. The outcome of the consideration of these potential alternatives and our ongoing bondholder negotiations, the timing of which cannot be
accurately predicted at this time, are likely to affect our liquidity, future operations and financial condition. We have retained Lazard Freres &
Co. LLC to advise the Company’s management and Board of Directors with respect to realigning our balance sheet, in addition to addressing
financing alternatives and enhancing our liquidity profile. We have also hired the law firm of Jones Day to serve as our restructuring counsel.

Contractual Commitments and Obligations
In January of 2015, the Company entered into a new eleven year lease agreement for office space in Houston, Texas. The operating lease
commenced on March 1, 2015 and may be terminated after seven years. During the second quarter of 2015, we signed a five-year agreement for
increased gas transportation firm capacity (increased to a total of 190 MMcf per day) in the Fasken area. Refer to Note 11 of these condensed
consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
We had no other material changes in our contractual commitments and obligations from amounts referenced under “Contractual
Commitments and Obligations” in Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31,
2014.
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Results of Operations
Revenues — Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014
Our oil and gas sales in the third quarter of 2015 decreased by 55% compared to oil and gas sales in the third quarter of 2014, primarily due
to overall lower commodity pricing and to a lesser degree due to lower oil and NGL production, which was partially offset by higher natural gas
production. Average oil prices we received were 53% lower than those received during the third quarter of 2014, while natural gas prices were 29%
lower and NGL prices were 61% lower.
Crude oil production was 20% and 29% of our production volumes in the third quarters of 2015 and 2014, respectively. Crude oil sales were
44% and 62% of oil and gas sales in the third quarters of 2015 and 2014, respectively. Natural gas production was 68% and 55% of our production
volumes in the third quarters of 2015 and 2014, respectively. Natural gas sales were 49% and 26% of oil and gas sales in the third quarters of 2015
and 2014, respectively. The remaining production and sales in each period came from NGLs.
The following table provides additional information regarding our oil and gas sales, excluding any effects of our hedging activities, for the
three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:
Oil and Gas Sales
(In Millions)

Core Regions

2015
Artesia Wells
AWP
Fasken
Other South Texas

$

Net Oil and Gas Production
Volumes (MBoe)

2014

4.4
20.2
19.6
0.9

$

2015

2014

13.8
58.8
18.4
2.0

267
905
1,240
53

423
1,208
775
62

Total South Texas

45.1

93.0

2,465

2,468

Southeast Louisiana

10.6

30.5

252

351

Central Louisiana

4.1

10.0

138

166

Other

0.2

0.4

10

9

133.9

2,865

2,994

$

Total

60.0

$

Our production decrease from 2014 to 2015 was primarily due to a decrease in natural gas production from our Artesia field and decreased
oil production in the AWP and Lake Washington fields, partially offset by increased gross natural gas production in our Fasken field.
In the third quarter of 2015, our $73.9 million, or 55% decrease in oil, NGL, and natural gas sales from the prior year period resulted from:
•
•

Price variances that had an approximate $48.1 million unfavorable impact on sales due to overall lower commodity pricing; and
Volume variances that had a $25.8 million unfavorable impact on sales due to lower oil and NGL production, partially offset by higher
natural gas production.
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The following table provides additional information regarding our quarterly oil and gas sales, excluding any effects of our hedging
activities, for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:
Production Volume
Oil
(MBbl)
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2015
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2014

NGL
(MBbl)

Average Price

Gas
(Bcf)

Combined
(MBoe)

Oil
(Bbl)

NGL
(Bbl)

Natural Gas
(Mcf)

581

344

11.6

2,865

$

45.24

$

12.94

$

2.51

870

482

9.9

2,994

$

96.12

$

33.39

$

3.55

For the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, we recorded total net gains of less than $0.1 million and $5.0 million, respectively,
related to our derivative activities. This activity is recorded in “Price-risk management and other, net” on the accompanying condensed
consolidated statements of operations. Had these amounts been recognized in the oil and gas sales account, our average oil price would have been
$45.24 and $97.81 for the third quarters of 2015 and 2014, respectively, and our average natural gas price would have been $2.52 and $3.91 for the
third quarters of 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Costs and Expenses — Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014
Our expenses in the third quarter of 2015 increased $281.4 million, compared to those in the third quarter of 2014, for the reasons noted
below. Excluding the 2015 ceiling test write-down, our expenses in the third quarter of 2015 decreased $40.1 million, or 30%, when compared to
expenses in the third quarter of 2014.
Lease operating cost. These expenses decreased $4.1 million, or 18%, compared to the level of such expenses in the third quarter of 2014.
The decrease was due to lower supervision fees charged to LOE in addition to lower maintenance, compression, transportation and other costs as a
result of concentrated efforts to reduce operating costs. Our lease operating costs per Boe produced were $6.28 and $7.37 for the three months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Transportation and gas processing. These expenses increased $0.3 million, or 7% compared to the level of such expenses in the third
quarter of 2014, as our production volumes decreased 4%. Our transportation and gas processing costs per Boe produced were $1.90 and $1.71 for
the third quarters of 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (“DD&A”). These expenses decreased $29.7 million, or 45% from those in the third quarter of
2014. The decrease was primarily due to a lower depletable base including decreased future development costs, partially offset by lower reserves
volumes. We also reduced the number of our proved undeveloped locations due to lower commodity prices and other economic factors. Our DD&A
rate per Boe of production was $12.43 and $21.82 in the third quarters of 2015 and 2014, respectively.
General and Administrative Expenses, Net. These expenses decreased $2.3 million, or 21%, from the level of such expenses in the third
quarter of 2014. The decrease was primarily due to lower salaries and related benefits along with lower stock compensation, temporary labor costs
and accounting fees, partially offset by higher legal and professional fees and decreased capitalized costs. Our net general and administrative
expenses per Boe produced decreased to $3.03 per Boe in the third quarter of 2015 from $3.67 per Boe in the third quarter of 2014.
Severance and Other Taxes. These expenses decreased $5.6 million, or 55%, from third quarter of 2014 levels while oil and gas revenues
decreased 55% and equivalent production volumes decreased 4%. The decrease was primarily driven by lower revenues and changes in the
production mix to higher natural gas production in South Texas which carries a lower severance tax compared to oil production in South Texas and
Louisiana. Severance and other taxes, as a percentage of oil and gas sales, were approximately 7.7% and 7.6% in the third quarters of 2015 and 2014,
respectively.
Interest. Our gross interest cost in the third quarters of 2015 and 2014 was $20.7 million and $19.4 million, respectively, of which $1.2 million
was capitalized, respectively.
Write-down of oil and gas properties. Principally due to the effects of pricing, and also due to the timing of projects and changes in our
reserves product mix, we recorded a non-cash write-down on a before-tax basis of $321.5 million in the third quarter of 2015.
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Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate was 54.8% for the third quarter of 2014. There was no benefit for income taxes in the third
quarter of 2015 as the benefit for income taxes was offset by valuation allowances.
Revenues — Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014
Our oil and gas sales in the first nine months of 2015 decreased by 56% compared to oil and gas sales in the first nine months of 2014,
primarily due to overall lower commodity pricing and to a lesser degree due to lower oil and NGL production, which was partially offset by higher
natural gas production. Average oil prices we received were 51% lower than those received during the first nine months of 2014, while natural gas
prices were 38% lower and NGL prices were 57% lower.
Crude oil production was 22% and 29% of our production volumes in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Crude oil sales were 47% and 60% of oil and gas sales in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Natural gas production
was 66% and 56% of our production volumes in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Natural gas sales were 44% and
29% of oil and gas sales in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The remaining production and sales in each period
came from NGLs.
The following table provides additional information regarding our oil and gas sales, excluding any effects of our hedging activities, for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:

Oil and Gas Sales
(In Millions)

Core Regions

2015
Artesia Wells
AWP
Fasken
Other South Texas

$

Net Oil and Gas Production
Volumes (MBoe)

2014

864
3,125
3,361
156

1,433
3,409
2,698
193

143.8

305.8

7,506

7,733

Southeast Louisiana

36.8

101.9

823

1,119

Central Louisiana

14.2

32.4

445

509

0.9

1.3

30

26

441.4

8,804

9,387

Other
$

Total

195.7

$

2014

52.5
179.0
67.6
6.7

Total South Texas

15.4
72.6
53.1
2.7

2015

$

Our production decrease from 2014 to 2015 was primarily due to a decrease in natural gas production for our Artesia field and a decrease in
oil production in our AWP and Lake Washington fields. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in natural gas production from our
Fasken and AWP fields.
During the first nine months of 2015, our $245.8 million, or 56% decrease in oil, NGL, and natural gas sales from the prior year period
resulted from:
•
•

Price variances that had an approximate $169.2 million unfavorable impact on sales due to overall lower commodity pricing; and
Volume variances that had a $76.5 million unfavorable impact on sales, primarily attributable to lower oil production, partially offset by
higher natural gas production.
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The following table provides additional information regarding our oil and gas sales, excluding any effects of our hedging activities, for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:
Production Volume
Oil
(MBbl)
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2015
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2014

NGL
(MBbl)

Average Price

Gas
(Bcf)

Combined
(MBoe)

Oil
(Bbl)

NGL
(Bbl)

Natural Gas
(Mcf)

1,895

1,137

34.6

8,804

$

48.97

$

14.84

$

2.48

2,691

1,395

31.8

9,387

$

99.08

$

34.55

$

3.98

For the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, we recorded total net gains (losses) of $0.3 million and ($2.7 million), respectively,
related to our derivative activities. This activity is recorded in “Price-risk management and other, net” on the accompanying condensed
consolidated statements of operations. Had these amounts been recognized in the oil and gas sales account, our average oil price would have been
$48.97 and $98.80 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and our average natural gas price would have been $2.49
and $3.92 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Costs and Expenses — Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014
Our expenses in the first nine months of 2015 increased $989.3 million, compared to those in the first nine months of 2014, for the reasons
noted below. Excluding the 2015 ceiling test write-down, our expenses in the first nine months of 2015 decreased $95.3 million, or 23%, when
compared to expenses in the first nine months of 2014.
Lease operating cost. These expenses decreased $16.4 million, or 23%, compared to the level of such expenses in the first nine months of
2014. The decrease was due to concentrated efforts to reduce operating costs and included a decrease in supervision fees (i.e. overhead rates)
charged to LOE and lower workover, labor, compression, maintenance and salt water disposal costs. Our lease operating costs per Boe produced
were $6.15 and $7.52 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Transportation and gas processing. These expenses decreased $0.6 million, or 3%, compared to the level of such expenses in the first nine
months of 2014, as our production volumes decreased 6%. Our transportation and gas processing costs per Boe produced were $1.80 and $1.75 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (“DD&A”). These expenses decreased $62.7 million, or 31% from those in the first nine months
of 2014. The decrease was primarily due to a lower depletable base including decreased future development costs, partially offset by lower reserves
volumes. We also reduced the number of our proved undeveloped locations due to lower commodity prices and other economic factors. Our DD&A
rate per Boe of production was $15.72 and $21.42 in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
General and Administrative Expenses, Net. These expenses decreased $2.0 million, or 6%, from the level of such expenses in the first nine
months of 2014 primarily due to lower salary and related benefits expenses, largely offset by a decrease in capitalized costs. Our net general and
administrative expenses per Boe produced remained comparable at $3.58 per Boe for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.
Severance and Other Taxes. These expenses decreased $14.7 million, or 51%, from the first nine months of 2014. The decrease was
primarily driven by lower oil and gas revenues as a result of decreased commodity prices along with declining oil production. Severance and other
taxes, as a percentage of oil and gas sales, were approximately 7.2% and 6.5% in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Interest. Our gross interest cost in the first nine months of 2015 was $60.0 million, of which $3.6 million was capitalized. Our gross interest
cost in the first nine months of 2014 was $59.0 million, of which $3.7 million was capitalized.
Write-down of oil and gas properties. Principally due to the effects of pricing, and also due to the timing of projects and changes in our
reserves product mix, we recorded non-cash write-downs on a before-tax basis of approximately $502.6 million in the first quarter of 2015, $260.5
million in the second quarter of 2015 and $321.5 million in the third quarter of 2015, for a total of $1.1 billion for the first nine months of 2015.
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Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate decreased to 6.7% from 49.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The tax benefit of $80.1 million for the first nine months of 2015 was due to a reduction in our deferred tax liability resulting from the
write-down of oil and gas properties, partially offset by a valuation allowance.
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Critical Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements
Property and Equipment. We follow the “full-cost” method of accounting for oil and natural gas property and equipment costs. Under this
method of accounting, all productive and nonproductive costs incurred in the exploration, development, and acquisition of oil and natural gas
reserves are capitalized including internal costs incurred that are directly related to these activities and which are not related to production, general
corporate overhead, or similar activities. Future development costs are estimated on a property-by-property basis based on current economic
conditions and are amortized to expense as our capitalized oil and natural gas property costs are amortized. We compute the provision for
depreciation, depletion, and amortization (“DD&A”) of oil and natural gas properties using the unit-of-production method.
The costs of unproved properties not being amortized are assessed quarterly, on a property-by-property basis, to determine whether such
properties have been impaired. In determining whether such costs should be impaired, we evaluate current drilling results, lease expiration dates,
current oil and gas industry conditions, international economic conditions, capital availability, and available geological and geophysical information.
As these factors may change from period to period, our evaluation of these factors will change. Any impairment assessed is added to the cost of
proved properties being amortized.
The calculation of the provision for DD&A requires us to use estimates related to quantities of proved oil and natural gas reserves and
estimates of unproved properties. The estimation process for both reserves and the impairment of unproved properties is subjective, and results
may change over time based on current information and industry conditions. We believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable; however,
such estimates and assumptions are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from such
estimates.
Full-Cost Ceiling Test. At the end of each quarterly reporting period, the unamortized cost of oil and natural gas properties (including
natural gas processing facilities, capitalized asset retirement obligations and deferred income taxes, and excluding the recognized asset retirement
obligation liability) is limited to the sum of the estimated future net revenues from proved properties (excluding cash outflows from recognized asset
retirement obligations, including future development and abandonment costs of wells to be drilled, using the preceding 12-months’ average price
based on closing prices on the first day of each month, adjusted for price differentials, discounted at 10%, and the lower of cost or fair value of
unproved properties) adjusted for related income tax effects ("Ceiling Test").
Principally due to the effects of pricing, and also due to the timing of projects and changes in our reserves product mix, in 2015 we reported
a non-cash write-down on a before-tax basis of $321.5 million and $1.1 billion on our oil and natural gas properties for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015, respectively.
We believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable; however, such estimates and assumptions are subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from such estimates.
If oil and natural gas prices remain low or decline from the prices used in the Ceiling Test, it is likely that additional non-cash write-downs
of oil and gas properties will occur in the future. If future capital expenditures out pace future discounted net cash flows in our reserve calculations
or if we have significant declines in our oil and natural gas reserves volumes, which also reduces our estimate of discounted future net cash flows
from proved oil and natural gas reserves, non-cash write-downs of our oil and natural gas properties would occur in the future. We cannot control
and cannot predict what future prices for oil and natural gas will be, thus we cannot estimate the amount or timing of any potential future non-cash
write-down of our oil and natural gas properties if a decrease in oil and/or natural gas prices were to occur. However, due to current trends in
commodity pricing it is likely that we will record additional ceiling test write-downs in future periods.
New Accounting Pronouncements. In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, which provides a single, comprehensive revenue
recognition model for all contracts with customers across various industries. The guidance is effective for annual and interim reporting periods
beginning after until December 15, 2017. We are currently reviewing the new requirements to determine the impact of this guidance on our financial
statements.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, providing guidance on the presentation of debt issuance costs. The guidance requires debt
issuance costs related to our long-term debt to be presented on the balance sheet as a reduction of the carrying amount of the long-term debt. This
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015 and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption
permitted and retrospective application required. This guidance, which we plan to adopt beginning with the first quarter of 2016, is not expected to
have a material impact on our financial statements.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, which changes the measurement principle for inventory from the lower of cost or market to
“lower of cost and net realizable value.” The standard simplifies the current guidance under which an entity must
30

Table of Contents
measure inventory at the lower of cost or market (market in this context is defined as one of three different measures, one of which is net realizable
value). Net realizable value is defined as the “estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal and transportation.” The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods
thereafter, and must be applied prospectively after the date of adoption. We are currently reviewing the new requirement to determine the impact of
this guidance on our financial statements.

Forward-Looking Statements
This report includes forward-looking statements intended to qualify for the safe harbors from liability established by the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. All
statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this report, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated
production levels, reserve increases, capital expenditures, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking
statements. When used in this report, the words "could," "believe," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," “budgeted”, "expect," "may," continue,"
"predict," "potential," "project" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking
statements contain such identifying words.
Forward-looking statements may include statements about our:
• future cash flows and their adequacy to fund ongoing operations;
• oil and natural gas pricing expectations;
• liquidity, including the potential need to sell certain assets, restructure our debt, raise additional capital or seek bankruptcy protection;
• business strategy;
• estimated oil and natural gas reserves or the present value thereof;
• the outcome of ongoing negotiations with holders of our senior notes;
• our borrowing capacity, future covenant compliance, cash flows and liquidity;
• financial strategy, budget, projections and operating results;
• asset disposition efforts or the timing or outcome thereof;
• prospective joint ventures, their structure and substance, and the likelihood of their finalization or the timing thereof;
• the amount, nature and timing of capital expenditures, including future development costs;
• timing, cost and amount of future production of oil and natural gas;
• availability of drilling and production equipment or availability of oil field labor;
• availability, cost and terms of capital;
• drilling of wells;
• availability and cost for transportation of oil and natural gas;
• costs of exploiting and developing our properties and conducting other operations;
• competition in the oil and natural gas industry;
• general economic conditions;
• opportunities to monetize assets;
• effectiveness of our risk management activities;
• environmental liabilities;
• counterparty credit risk;
• governmental regulation and taxation of the oil and natural gas industry;
• developments in world oil markets and in oil and natural gas-producing countries;
• uncertainty regarding our future operating results;
• plans, objectives, expectations and intentions contained in this report that are not historical.
All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements. Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by the forward31
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looking statements we make in this report are reasonable, we can give no assurance that these plans, intentions or expectations will be achieved. We
disclose important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations under "Risk factors" in Item 1A of our annual
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. These cautionary statements qualify all forward-looking statements attributable to us or
persons acting on our behalf.
All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or to persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their
entirety by the foregoing. We undertake no obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to any such forward-looking statements that
may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Commodity Risk. Our major market risk exposure is the commodity pricing applicable to our oil and natural gas production. Realized
commodity prices received for such production are primarily driven by the prevailing worldwide price for crude oil and spot prices applicable to
natural gas. This commodity pricing volatility has continued with unpredictable price swings in recent periods.
Our price-risk management policy permits the utilization of agreements and financial instruments (such as futures, forward contracts, swaps
and options contracts) to mitigate price risk associated with fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices. We do not utilize these agreements and
financial instruments for trading and only enter into derivative agreements with banks in our credit facility. For additional discussion related to our
price-risk management policy, refer to Note 7 of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
Customer Credit Risk. We are exposed to the risk of financial non-performance by customers. Our ability to collect on sales to our
customers is dependent on the liquidity of our customer base. Continued volatility in both credit and commodity markets may reduce the liquidity of
our customer base. To manage customer credit risk, we monitor credit ratings of customers and from certain customers we also obtain letters of
credit, parent company guarantees if applicable, and other collateral as considered necessary to reduce risk of loss. Due to availability of other
purchasers, we do not believe the loss of any single oil or natural gas customer would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
Concentration of Sales Risk. Over the last several years, a large portion of our oil and gas sales have been to Shell Oil Corporation and
affiliates and we expect to continue this relationship in the future. We believe that the risk of these unsecured receivables is mitigated by the shortterm sales agreements we have in place as well as the size, reputation and nature of their business.
Interest Rate Risk. Our senior notes due in 2017, 2020 and 2022 have fixed interest rates, so consequently we are not exposed to cash flow
risk from market interest rate changes on these notes. At September 30, 2015, we had $302.0 million drawn under our credit facility, which bears a
floating rate of interest and therefore is susceptible to interest rate fluctuations. The result of a 10% fluctuation in the bank’s base rate would
constitute 33 basis points and would not have a material adverse effect on our future cash flows.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
consisting of controls and other procedures designed to give reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in the reports we file
or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our
chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding such required disclosure. The Company’s chief executive
officer and chief financial officer have evaluated such disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly
report on Form 10-Q and have determined that such disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the first nine months of 2015 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
No material legal proceedings are pending other than ordinary, routine litigation incidental to the Company’s business.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
During the third quarter of 2015, there have been no material changes in our risk factors disclosed in the
2014 Annual Report Form 10-K and the Quarterly Report Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, except for the following:
The prevailing commodity price environment may require us to sell certain assets, restructure our debt, raise additional capital, sell
certain assets or seek bankruptcy protection.
If low commodity prices continue, we would need some form of debt restructuring, capital raising effort or asset sale in order to fund our
operations and meet our substantial debt service obligations of approximately $80.0 million per year. Our management is actively pursuing improving
our working capital position and/or reducing our future debt service obligations in order to remain a going concern for the foreseeable future. If we
are unable to restructure our outstanding debt, obtain additional debt or equity financing, or raise adequate proceeds from sales of assets, we may
not be able to make payments on our indebtedness, our secured lenders could foreclose against the assets securing their borrowings, and we may
find it necessary to file a voluntary petition for reorganization relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in order to provide us additional time
to identify an appropriate solution to our financial situation and implement a plan of reorganization aimed at improving our capital structure.
Our short-term liquidity is constrained, and could severely impact our cash flow and our development of our properties.
Currently, our principal sources of liquidity are cash flow from our operations and borrowing under our revolving credit facility. During the
first nine months of 2015, we have borrowed $105 million under our revolving credit facility to fund a portion of our capital expenditures. As part of
our regularly scheduled November 2015 borrowing base redetermination, our revolving credit facility borrowing base and commitments amounts
were reduced to $330.0 million from $375.0 million, with approximately $23 million of remaining availability under our credit facility at November 2,
2015. If we are unable to materially reduce our obligations on our outstanding senior notes, the lenders may institute a one-time interim borrowing
base redetermination on February 1, 2016 that could further reduce our existing revolving credit facility borrowing base. This reduction could result
in our liquidity being severely limited and our expenditures being limited to our current cash flow. If we are no longer able to draw under our credit
facility, we may not be able to fund our operations and drilling activities and pay the interest on our debt, which could result in our defaulting under
our various debt instruments and possibly seeking bankruptcy protection.
Continuing required write-downs of our estimated proved reserves may reduce our borrowing capacity and ability to meet our
obligations under our various debt instruments.
During the first nine months of 2015, we were required to write-down $1.1 billion of our estimated proved reserves, and we anticipate being
required to write-down additional proved reserves during the fourth quarter of 2015. In addition to the negative effect on our balance sheet and
retained earnings and the reduction in our assets, the reduction in value of our properties would likely reduce our future borrowing capacity and
ability to meet the financial covenants under our various debt instruments.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
The following table summarizes repurchases of our common stock occurring during the third quarter of 2015:

Period

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

July 1 – 31, 2015 (1)
August 1 – 31, 2015 (1)
September 1 – 30, 2015 (1)

699
205
781

Average Price
Paid Per Share
$
$
$

0.80
0.65
0.48

Total Number of
shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs
—
—
—

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased Under
the Plans or Programs
(in thousands)
$

Total
1,685 $
0.63
— $
(1) These shares were withheld from employees to satisfy tax obligations arising upon the vesting of restricted shares.

—
—
—
—

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
None.
Item 5. Other Information.
Effective November 2, 2015, we executed an amendment to our credit facility agreement lowering our borrowing base and commitment
amount, changing our financial covenant ratios as noted below, and providing for a borrowing base redetermination on or about February 1, 2016 if
we have not reduced the current outstanding principal amount of our unsecured or subordinated debt by at least 50% by that date, along with other
changes detailed below. The borrowing base and commitment amount under our credit facility were decreased from $375.0 million to $330.0 million
while the maturity date of November 1, 2017 remained unchanged, subject to being accelerated to March 2, 2017 if by that date the maturity dates of
our existing Senior Notes are not extended to May 1, 2018 or later, or if those Senior Notes are not repurchased, redeemed or refinanced.
Effective November 2, 2015, the amendment made changes to the existing adjusted working capital ratio, interest coverage ratio and senior
secured leverage ratio and removed the existing liquidity requirement in order for us to pay interest on our existing senior notes or any new debt
(after giving effect to such interest payment).
The adjusted working capital ratio (not less than 1.0 to 1.0 before the amendment) was amended to require the ratio to not be less than 0.5
to 1.0 for each of the quarters up to and ending on December 31, 2016, returning to a ratio of not less than 1.0 to 1.0 at any time thereafter.
The interest coverage ratio (not less than 1.5 to 1.0 before the amendment) was amended to require the ratio to not be less than 1.15 to 1.0
for the quarters ending on December 31, 2015 through June 30, 2016, 1.3 to 1.0 for the quarters ending September 30, 2016 through December 31,
2016, and 2.0 to 1.0 any time thereafter.
The senior secured leverage ratio (not greater than 3.0 to 1.0 before the amendment) was amended to require the ratio to not be greater than
3.5 to 1.0 for the quarters ending December 31, 2015 through June 30, 2016, 3.0 to 1.0 for the quarters ending September 30, 2016 through December
31, 2016, and 2.5 to 1.0 any time thereafter.
Effective with the amendment on November 2, 2015, the terms of the credit facility require us to secure the facility with collateral equal to at
least 95% of our oil and natural gas properties. The amended facility also increased the interest rate to be paid under the credit facility by 25 basis
points on a going-forward basis.
The above description is qualified in its entirety by reference to Exhibit 10.1 attached to this filing, which is the full text of the November 2,
2015 amendment to our credit facility agreement.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
10.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32*
101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*
101.DEF*

Sixth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement effective as of November 2, 2015, among Swift Energy
Company, Swift Energy Operating, LLC, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Schema Document
XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Definition Linkbase Document

*Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date:

November 5, 2015

SWIFT ENERGY COMPANY
(Registrant)
By: /s/ Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer
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Exhibit Index
10.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32*
101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*
101.DEF*

Sixth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement effective as of November 2, 2015, among Swift Energy
Company, Swift Energy Operating, LLC, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Schema Document
XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Definition Linkbase Document

*Filed herewith
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Section 2: EX-10.1 (EXHIBIT 10.1)
Exhibit 10.1

SIXTH AMENDMENT
This SIXTH AMENDMENT (“Amendment”) dated as of November 2, 2015 (the “Effective Date”), is by and among
Swift Energy Company, a Texas corporation (“Swift Co”), and Swift Energy Operating, LLC, a Texas limited liability company
(“Swift LLC”; and together with Swift Co, individually, a “Borrower” and, collectively, the “Borrowers”), the Lenders (as defined
below) party hereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the
“Administrative Agent”) and as issuing bank (in such capacity, the “Issuing Bank”).
Whereas, the Borrowers, the lenders from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”), and the Administrative Agent are
parties to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 21, 2010, as amended by the First
Amendment and Consent thereto dated as of May 12, 2011, the Second Amendment thereto dated as of October 2, 2012, the
Third Amendment thereto dated as of October 31, 2012, the Fourth Amendment and Consent thereto dated as of April 30, 2014
and the Fifth Amendment thereto dated as of May 1, 2015 (as so amended, and as further amended, restated or otherwise
modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”); and
WHEREAS, the parties hereto have agreed to make certain amendments to the Credit Agreement as provided for herein;
Now Therefore, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants, representations and warranties contained
herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto hereby agree as follows:
Agreement
Section 1.
Defined Terms. Unless otherwise defined in this Amendment, each capitalized term used
in this Amendment has the meaning given such term in the Credit Agreement.
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Section 2.

Amendments to the Credit Agreement.

(a)
The pricing grid in the definition of “Applicable Margin” in Section 1.2 of the Credit
Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
Borrowing Base Usage

Eurodollar Rate Loans

Alternate Base Rate Loans

Commitment Fee

>90%
3.00%

2.00%

0.500%

2.75%

1.75%

0.500%

2.50%

1.50%

0.500%

2.25%

1.25%

0.500%

2.00%

1.00%

0.500%

<90% and >75%
<75% and >50%
<50% and >25%
<25%

(b)
their entirety as follows:

The following definitions in Section 1.2 of the Credit Agreement are hereby amended and restated in

“Existing Senior Notes” shall mean (a) the $250,000,000 of 7-1/8% senior unsecured notes due on June 1,
2017, (b) the $225,000,000 of 8-7/8% senior unsecured notes due on January 15, 2020 and (c) the $400,000,000 of
7-7/8% senior unsecured notes due on March 1, 2022, in each case issued prior to the Sixth Amendment Closing
Date.
“Final Maturity” shall mean November 1, 2017; provided that, if all of the Existing Senior Notes referred
to in clause (a) of the definition of “Existing Senior Notes” outstanding on the Sixth Amendment Closing Date are
not, on or before March 2, 2017, either (i) amended to extend the scheduled maturity date thereof to a date no
earlier than May 1, 2018 and/or (ii) repurchased, retired, redeemed, satisfied, defeased, refinanced with Permitted
Refinancing Debt and/or in effect exchanged for Capital Stock of Swift Co in a transaction permitted hereunder,
then “Final Maturity” shall mean March 2, 2017.
“Indebtedness” shall mean, as to any Person, without duplication, (a) all liabilities (excluding reserves for
deferred income taxes, deferred compensation liabilities, and other deferred liabilities and credits) which in
accordance with GAAP would be included in determining total liabilities as shown on the liability side of a balance
sheet of such Person, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, promissory notes, or
similar evidences of indebtedness, (c) all other indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money, (d) all obligations
of others, to the extent any such obligation is secured by a Lien on the assets of such Person (whether or not such
Person has assumed or become liable for the obligation secured by such Lien), (e) Letters of Credit, (f) Contingent
Obligations, and (g) all obligations of such Person to purchase, redeem, retire, defease or otherwise make any
similar payment in respect of any Capital Stock of such Person on a date prior to the date that is 90 days after
Final Maturity, valued, in the case of a redeemable preferred interest, at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary
liquidation preference plus accrued and unpaid dividends.

Exhibit 10.1

“New Unsecured/Subordinated Debt” shall mean Indebtedness of the Borrowers (including senior
unsecured notes, subordinated notes, convertible notes, preferred stock with any mandatory redemption and other
Indebtedness not ranking pari passu with the Obligations, but excluding the Existing Senior Notes and Permitted
Refinancing Debt) issued after the Sixth Amendment Closing Date of up to $200,000,000 in principal amount, in
such form and with terms, including, when appropriate, the subordination of such Indebtedness to the payment in
full of the Obligations, the termination or Cash Collateralization of all Letters of Credit and the termination of the
Facility Amounts, approved by the Administrative Agent in writing in advance of the incurrence thereof.
“Security Agreement” shall mean the Second Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated as of
November 2, 2015 executed by each Borrower and each Guarantor in favor of the Administrative Agent for the
benefit of the Secured Parties in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, as the same may be
amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time-to-time.
(c)
Section 1.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new definitions in their
appropriate alphabetical order:
“Account Control Agreement” shall mean, if any deposit account or securities account of any Borrower or
any Guarantor is held with a bank or securities intermediary that is not the Administrative Agent, an agreement or
agreements in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent with such other bank or
securities intermediary governing any such deposit accounts or securities accounts of such Borrower or such
Guarantor.
“Aggregate Unsecured/Subordinated Debt Amount” shall mean, on any date, the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of all Existing Senior Notes, all New Unsecured/Subordinated Debt and all Permitted
Refinancing Debt on such date.
“Initial Aggregate Unsecured/Subordinated Debt Amount” shall mean $875,000,000.
“Sixth Amendment Closing Date” shall mean November 2, 2015.
“Material Unsecured/Subordinated Debt Reduction Transaction” means a transaction among Swift Co and
certain holders of the Existing Senior Notes, New Unsecured/Subordinated Debt or Permitted Refinancing Debt
(other than any transaction that would cause a Default, Event of Default or a reduction of the Borrowing Base
hereunder) whereby the Aggregate Unsecured/Subordinated Debt Amount is reduced by an amount equal to or
greater than 50% of the Initial Aggregate Unsecured/Subordinated Debt Amount.
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(d)
Litigation” in its entirety.
(e)

Section 1.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition “New Zealand
The first paragraph of Section 5.6 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety

as follows:
5.6 SEC and Other Reports. Deliver to the Administrative Agent,
(a) within five days after any material report (other than financial statements) or other
communication is sent by any Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to its stockholders or partners or is filed by any
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries with the SEC, copies of such report or communication;
(b) as soon as available and in any event within five days after the last day of each calendar
month (each such last day being referred to herein as a “report date”), commencing with the October 31, 2015
report date, an updated 13-week cash flow budget of the Borrowers and the Guarantors in substantially the form
attached as Exhibit XII hereto certified by a Responsible Officer; and
(c) as soon as available and in any event within five days after the last day of each calendar
month (each such last day being referred to herein as a “report date”), commencing with the October 31, 2015
report date, a trade accounts payable aging report of the Borrowers and the Guarantors as of such test date
prepared by management of the Borrowers in substantially the form attached as Exhibit XIII hereto certified by a
Responsible Officer.
(f)
Section 5.24 of the Credit Agreement (Title Opinions; Title Defects) is hereby amended by
replacing “75%” with “85%”.
(g)
Section 5.25 of the Credit Agreement (Level of Mortgage Coverage) is hereby amended by
replacing each reference therein to “75%” with “95%”.
(h)
Section 5.27 of the Credit Agreement (Post Closing Requirements) is hereby amended by
adding the following as new subsection (e) thereof:
(e) Not later than 10 Business Days following the Sixth Amendment Closing Date (or a later date
acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion), the Borrowers shall deliver to the Administrative
Agent each Account Control Agreement required pursuant to Section 5.28(b).
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(i)

The Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following as new Section 5.28 and Section 5.29

thereto:
5.28 Bank Accounts. Cause all deposit accounts and securities accounts of each Borrower and each
Guarantor (a) to be maintained with the Administrative Agent, (b) to be maintained with a Lender and, other than
such deposit accounts and securities accounts with a Lender containing less than $1,000,000 in the aggregate at
any time, be subject to an Account Control Agreement, (c) to be payroll accounts, or (d) with respect to deposit
accounts and securities accounts not described in (a), (b) or (c) above, to contain less than $1,000,000 in the
aggregate at any time.
5.29 Material
Unsecured/Subordinated
Debt
Reduction
Transaction.
If
no
Material
Unsecured/Subordinated Debt Reduction Transaction has been consummated on or prior to February 1, 2016, the
Borrowers shall be deemed to have irrevocably requested an unscheduled determination of the Borrowing Base to
occur on or about February 1, 2016 pursuant to Section 2.11(b). For the avoidance of doubt, such unscheduled
determination of the Borrowing Base shall be deemed to be made at the Borrowers’ request pursuant to Section
2.11(b) between the determinations of the Borrowing Base scheduled to occur on or about November 1, 2015 and
May 1, 2016 pursuant to Section 2.11(b). No later than January 4, 2016, the Borrowers shall deliver the
engineering reports required pursuant to Section 5.5(c) in connection with such unscheduled determination of the
Borrowing Base.
(j)

Section 6.1(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing “$15,000,000” with

(k)

Section 6.1(i) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing “$15,000,000” with

“$5,000,000”.
“$5,000,000”.
(l)

Section 6.4(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
(c) [Reserved];

(m)
Section 6.4(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting “(including any farmout or
similar agreement)” immediately after “the sale or other disposition”.
(n)
Section 6.4(f) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting “(including any farmout or
similar agreement)” immediately after “the sale or other disposition”.
(o)

Section 6.5(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
(a) [Reserved];

Exhibit 10.1

(p)

Section 6.5(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
(e) [Reserved].

(q)
Section 6.8 of the Credit Agreement (Investments) is hereby amended by (i) inserting “and” at the end
of clause (g) thereof, (ii) replacing “;” at the end of clause (h) thereof with “.” and (iii) deleting clauses (i) and (j) thereof in their
entirety.
(r)

Section 6.13 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

6.13 Current Ratio. Permit the ratio of Current Assets (plus Available Commitment) to Current Liabilities
to be less than (a) 1.0 to 1.0 on September 30, 2015, (b) 0.5 to 1.0 at any time during the period from October 1,
2015 through and including December 31, 2016 and (c) 1.0 to 1.0 at any time thereafter.
(s)

Section 6.14 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

6.14 Interest Coverage Ratio. Permit the ratio of EBITDAX to Interest Expense (calculated quarterly at
the end of each fiscal quarter on a rolling four quarter basis) to be less than (a) 1.50 to 1.00 as of the last day of
the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2015, (b) 1.15 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter ending during
the period from December 31, 2015 through and including June 30, 2016, (c) 1.30 to 1.00 as of the last day of any
fiscal quarter ending during the period from September 30, 2016 through and including December 31, 2016 and (d)
2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter ending thereafter.
(t)

Section 6.15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

6.15 Senior Secured Leverage Ratio. Permit the ratio of the Obligations (other than Hedging Obligations
and Cash Management Obligations) as of the last of any fiscal quarter to EBITDAX for the four fiscal quarter
period then ended to be greater than (a) 3.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of the fiscal quarter ending September 30,
2015, (b) 3.50 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter ending during the period from December 31, 2015
through and including June 30, 2016, (c) 3.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter ending during the
period from September 30, 2016 through and including December 31, 2016 and (d) 2.50 to 1.00 as of the last day
of any fiscal quarter ending thereafter.
(u)

Section 6.22 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

6.22 [Reserved].
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(v)
Exhibit IV to the Credit Agreement (Form of Compliance Certificate and Hedging Report) is hereby
amended and restated in its entirety in the form of Exhibit IV attached hereto.
(w)
The Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding Exhibit XII attached hereto as new Exhibit XII to
the Credit Agreement (Form of 13-Week Cash Flow Budget).
(x)
The Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding Exhibit XIII attached hereto as new Exhibit XIII to
the Credit Agreement (Form of Trade Accounts Payable Aging Report).
Section 3.
Borrowing Base Redetermination. The Administrative Agent hereby notifies the
Borrowers, and the undersigned Lenders hereby agree and acknowledge, that the amount of the Borrowing Base has been
redetermined by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in accordance with Section 2.11(b) of the Credit Agreement,
and has been set by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders at $330,000,000, effective as of the Effective Date. For the
avoidance of doubt, such redetermination is the scheduled redetermination of the Borrowing Base to occur on or about
November 1, 2015 pursuant to Section 2.11(b) of the Credit Agreement. The Borrowing Base shall remain in effect at
such level until the Borrowing Base is redetermined or otherwise adjusted in accordance with the terms of the Credit
Agreement.
Section 4.
Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective as of the Effective
Date upon the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:
(a)
the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts hereof duly executed by each
Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Required Lenders;
(b)
the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of the attached Acknowledgment and
Reaffirmation duly executed by each Guarantor;
(c)
the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of the Second Amended and Restated
Security Agreement duly executed by each Borrower and each Guarantor, together with appropriate UCC-1 financing
statements for filing with the appropriate authorities and any other documents, agreements, or instruments necessary to
create and perfect a first priority security interest in the Collateral described in the Second Amended and Restated Security
Agreement (other than Account Control Agreements); and
(d)
the Administrative Agent shall have received Mortgages (or supplements to existing Mortgages
in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) from the Borrowers and the Guarantors covering at least
95% of the value of the Oil and Gas Properties used in determining the Borrowing Base for properties situated in the
United States and all improvements, personal property, and fixtures related thereto; together with appropriate UCC-1
financing statements for filing with the appropriate authorities and any other documents, agreements, or instruments
necessary to create and perfect a first priority security interest in the Mortgaged Properties;
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(e)
the Administrative Agent shall have received title opinions, in form and substance and by counsel
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, or other confirmation of title acceptable to the Administrative Agent, covering Oil
and Gas Properties constituting at least 85% of the value of the Oil and Gas Properties used in determining the Borrowing
Base for properties situated in the United States; and
(f) (i) the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of the Fee Letter dated as of
November 2, 2015 (the “Sixth Amendment Fee Letter”) duly executed by the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the
Arranger and (ii) the Borrowers shall have paid (A) all fees required to be paid on the Effective Date pursuant to the Sixth
Amendment Fee Letter and (B) all costs and expenses which have been invoiced and are payable pursuant to Section 9.16
(a) of the Credit Agreement.
Section 5.
Representations and Warranties. Each Borrower hereby represents and warrants that as
of the Effective Date, after giving effect to this Amendment:
(a)
the representations and warranties of the Borrowers contained in the Loan Documents are true
and correct in all material respects (provided that to the extent any representation and warranty is qualified as to "Material
Adverse Effect" or otherwise as to "materiality", such representation and warranty is true and correct in all respects) on and
as of the Effective Date, other than those representations and warranties that expressly relate solely to a specific earlier
date, which shall remain correct as of such earlier date;
(b)

no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;

(c)
the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment are within the limited liability
company, limited partnership, or corporate power and authority of each Borrower and have been duly authorized by
appropriate limited liability company, limited partnership or corporate action and proceedings;
(d)
this Amendment constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of each Borrower enforceable
in accordance with its terms, except as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar
laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and general principles of equity;
(e)
there are no governmental or other third party consents, licenses and approvals required in
connection with the execution, delivery, performance, validity and enforceability of this Amendment;
(f)

the Liens under the Security Instruments are valid and subsisting and secure the Obligations, as

amended hereby.
Section 6.

Effect of Amendment.

(a)
The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly
provided herein, operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of any Lender, the
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Issuing Bank or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents, nor, except as expressly provided herein,
constitute a waiver or amendment of any provision of any of the Loan Documents.
(b)
Upon and after the execution of this Amendment by each of the parties hereto, each reference in
the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit
Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to “the Credit Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words
of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as modified
hereby.
(c)
This Amendment is a Loan Document executed pursuant to the Credit Agreement and shall
(unless otherwise expressly indicated herein) be construed, administered and applied in accordance with the terms and
provisions thereof.
(d)
Except as specifically modified above, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are
and shall continue to be in full force and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.
Section 7.
Release. For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, each Borrower hereby, for itself and its successors and assigns, fully and without reserve, releases
and forever discharges each Secured Party, its respective successors and assigns, officers, directors, employees,
representatives, trustees, attorneys, agents and affiliates (collectively the “Released Parties” and individually a “Released
Party”) from any and all actions, claims, demands, causes of action, judgments, executions, suits, debts, liabilities, costs,
damages, expenses or other obligations of any kind and nature whatsoever, direct and/or indirect, at law or in equity,
whether now existing or hereafter asserted (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY OFFSETS,
REDUCTIONS, REBATEMENT, CLAIMS OF USURY OR CLAIMS WITH RESPECT TO THE NEGLIGENCE
OF ANY RELEASED PARTY), for or because of any matters or things occurring, existing or actions done, omitted to be
done, or suffered to be done by any of the Released Parties, in each case, on or prior to the Effective Date and are in any
way directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way connected to any of this Amendment, the Credit Agreement, any other
Loan Document, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (collectively, the “Released Matters”). Each
Borrower, by execution hereof, hereby acknowledges and agrees that the agreements in this Section 7 are intended to
cover and be in full satisfaction for all or any alleged injuries or damages arising in connection with the Released Matters
herein compromised and settled.
Section 8.
Governing Law. This Amendment shall be deemed to be made under and shall be
construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Texas without giving effect to principles thereof
relating to conflicts of law; provided, however, that Chapter 345 of the Texas Finance Code (which regulates certain
revolving credit loan accounts and revolving triparty accounts) shall not apply.
Section 9.
Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all
of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Transmission by facsimile or other electronic
transmission of an executed counterpart of this Amendment shall be deemed to constitute due and sufficient delivery of such
counterpart.
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Section 10.
ENTIRE AGREEMENT. THIS AMENDMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE
CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL
AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE
PARTIES.
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by their respective
duly authorized officers as of the Effective Date.
BORROWERS:
SWIFT ENERGY COMPANY

By: s/b Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

SWIFT ENERGY OPERATING, LLC

By: s/b Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ISSUING BANK AND LENDER:
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By: s/b Jo Linda Papadakis
Name: Jo Linda Papadakis
Title: Authorized Officer
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LENDER:
WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.
By: s/b Stephanie Harrell
Name: Stephanie Harrell
Title: Vice President
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Vice President
LENDER:
COMPASS BANK
By: s/b Rachel Festervand
Name: Rachel Festervand
Title: SVP
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LENDER:
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
By: s/b William J. Caggiano
Name: William J. Caggiano
Title: Authorized Signatory

Exhibit 10.1

LENDER:
AMEGY BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By:
Name:
Title:
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LENDER:
COMERICA BANK
By: s/b Alan Blankstein
Name: Alan Blankstein
Title: Vice President
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LENDER:
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By: s/b Suzanne E. Geiger
Name: Suzanne E. Geiger
Title: Senior Vice President
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LENDER:
BRANCH BANKING & TRUST COMPANY
By: s/b James Giordano
Name: James Giordano
Title: Senior Vice President
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LENDER:
CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK OF COMMERCE, NEW YORK BRANCH
By: s/b Richard Antl
Name: Richard Antl
Title: Authorized Signatory
By: s/b Daria Mahoney
Name: Daria Mahoney
Title: Authorized Signatory
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LENDER:
MUFG UNION BANK, N.A.
By:
Name:
Title:
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LENDER:
WHITNEY BANK
By: s/b Liana Tchernysheva
Name: Liana Tchernysheva
Title: Senior Vice President
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT, REAFFIRMATION AND RELEASE
Each of the undersigned (each a “Guarantor” and collectively the “Guarantors”) hereby (i) acknowledges receipt of a copy
of the foregoing Sixth Amendment dated as of November 2, 2015 (the “Effective Date”) among Swift Energy Company, Swift
Energy Operating, LLC, the lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for such lenders (in
such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”) and (ii) reaffirms its obligations under the Guaranty Agreement dated as of September
21, 2010 by the Guarantors in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties (as defined therein).
For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, each Guarantor
hereby, for itself and its successors and assigns, fully and without reserve, releases and forever discharges each Secured Party, its
respective successors and assigns, officers, directors, employees, representatives, trustees, attorneys, agents and affiliates
(collectively the “Released Parties” and individually a “Released Party”) from any and all actions, claims, demands, causes of
action, judgments, executions, suits, debts, liabilities, costs, damages, expenses or other obligations of any kind and nature
whatsoever, direct and/or indirect, at law or in equity, whether now existing or hereafter asserted (INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, ANY OFFSETS, REDUCTIONS, REBATEMENT, CLAIMS OF USURY OR CLAIMS WITH RESPECT
TO THE NEGLIGENCE OF ANY RELEASED PARTY), for or because of any matters or things occurring, existing or actions
done, omitted to be done, or suffered to be done by any of the Released Parties, in each case, on or prior to the Effective Date and
are in any way directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way connected to any of the foregoing Sixth Amendment, the Credit
Agreement (as defined therein), any other Loan Document (as defined therein), or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby (collectively, the “Released Matters”). Each Guarantor, by execution hereof, hereby acknowledges and agrees that the
agreements in this paragraph are intended to cover and be in full satisfaction for all or any alleged injuries or damages arising in
connection with the Released Matters herein compromised and settled.
GASRS LLC
By: s/b Terry E. Swift
Terry E. Swift
President
SWENCO-WESTERN, LLC
By:

s/b Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Secretary
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Terry E. Swift, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2015, of Swift Energy Company;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting, to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

November 5, 2015

/s/Terry E. Swift
Terry E. Swift
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer and President
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Alton D. Heckaman, Jr., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2015, of Swift Energy Company;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting, to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2015

/s/Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Executive Vice-President
Chief Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer
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Section 5: EX-32 (EXHIBIT 32)
Exhibit 32

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2015 (the “Report”) of Swift Energy
Company (“Swift”) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2015, the undersigned, in his capacity as an officer of
Swift, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his
knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Swift.

Date: November 5, 2015

/s/ Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Alton D. Heckaman, Jr.
Executive Vice-President
Chief Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer

Date: November 5, 2015

/s/ Terry E. Swift
Terry E. Swift
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer and President
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